From the Department of Clinical science, Intervention and Technology, Division of ear, nose and throat diseases, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

# DETERMINANTS OF HEARING IMPAIRMENT IN SWEDISH HUNTERS

- an e-epidemiological approach

Louise Honeth



Stockholm 2016

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Eprint AB 2016 © Louise Honeth, 2016 ISBN 978-91-7676-262-2



# Karolinska Institutet

Institutionen för klinisk vetenskap intervention och teknik, Enheten för öron-, näs- och halssjukdomar

Determinants for hearing impairment in Swedish hunters an e-epidemiological approach

#### **AKADEMISK AVHANDLING**

som för avläggande av medicine doktorsexamen vid Karolinska Institutet offentligen försvaras i ÖNH-klinikens föreläsningssal, Karolinska Universitetssjukhuset Solna, A602, plan 2 i huvudbyggnaden

Torsdagen den 12 maj 2016, kl 10.00

av

#### Louise Honeth

leg.läkare

#### Huvudhandledare

Professor emeritus Olof Nyrén Karolinska Institutet Institutionen för medicinsk epidemiologi och biostatistik

#### Bihandledare

Professor Ulf Rosenhall Karolinska Institutet Institutionen för klinisk vetenskap, intervention och teknik, Enheten för audiologi

Professor Dan Bagger-Sjöbäck Karolinska Institutet Institutionen för klinisk vetenskap, intervention och teknik, Enheten för ÖNH-sjukdomar

#### Stockholm 2016

#### Fakultetsopponent

Docent Elina Mäki-Torkko Linköpings Universitet Institutionen för klinisk och experimentell medicin/Avdelningen för neuro- och inflammationsvetenskap

#### Betygsnämnd

Professor Magnus Svartengren Uppsala Universitet Institutionen för medicinska vetenskaper, Enheten för Arbets- och miljömedicin

Docent Anna Magnusson Karolinska Institutet Institutionen för klinisk vetenskap, intervention och teknik, Enheten för audiologi

Docent Hugo Hesser Linköpings Universitet Institutionen för beteendevetenskap och lärande/ Avdelningen för psykologi Louise Honeth 2016

Determinants for hearing impairment in Swedish hunters - an e-epidemiological approach

To my family

Wisdom is not a product of schooling but of the lifelong attempt to acquire it.

Albert Einstein

All you need is love. But a little chocolate now and then doesn't hurt.

Charles M. Schulz

## ABSTRACT

Background: 290 236 persons bought a hunting license in Sweden 2014/15. Hunters are spread all over the country and come from all socioeconomic groups. Recreational firearms can produce peak noise levels between 156-164 decibel sound pressure levels (dB SPL). Human challenge experiments in the past have demonstrated that a single gunshot can cause a severe temporary threshold shift (TTS). The recovery period after such acoustic trauma is unpredictable and a permanent threshold shift (PTS) cannot be excluded. Swedish and international surveys have shown a high usage of hearing protection at training but much less so at actual hunting. Although several studies have measured noise levels from different types of weapons, there are only sparse observational data on dose-risk relationships and effect-modifying factors in humans engaged in real-life hunting. For continuous noise we know that different factors, as tobacco use, affect the susceptibility to develop hearing impairment when exposed, but little is known of these factors when exposed to impulse noise as from hunting fire arms.

Aims: To construct and validate an internet-based screening tool for testing hearing ability among large populations; To examine the association between high frequency hearing Impairment (HFHI) among Swedish hunters, and their shooting habits and usage of hearing protection; To examine potential risk modification of HFHI by tobacco-use when exposed to impulse noise from hunting rifle calibers.

Materials and method: A secure website with a questionnaire and an internet-based audiometry test, the InternetAudio test, based on a JAVA platform, was constructed. The combination questionnaire and hearing test was tested for feasibility in a pilot study on 560 members of the Swedish Hunters' Association (Study1). The hearing test was validated using clinical pure-tone air-conducted audiometry as gold standard on 72 participants (79% women) with a mean age of 45 years (range 19-71 years). Twenty participants had impaired hearing according to the gold standard test (Study 2). Finally in 2013 invitations to participate in the main survey was sent to 27 063 e-mail addresses retrieved from the Swedish hunters' association membership roster. In all, 1937 persons started the survey, 1771 of them completed the questionnaire, and 202 also completed the InternetAudio test. In this final survey the InternetAudio test was further validated while used under authentic conditions by 12 participants (Study 3). Associations, between the number of unprotected shooting with hunting rifle calibers (HRC) and HFHI, expressed as prevalence ratio (PR), were multivariately modelled using Poisson regression (Studies 3). In study 4 the possible effect modification of tobacco use in form om cigarettes/snus-use or both was examined with the same methods.

Results and conclusions: In the pilot study 162 out of 560 (29%) had answered the questionnaire, out of which 88 (16%) had completed the hearing test. Those who completed the hearing test were older than the non-participants, and had to a larger extent headphones (p=0.003) and the correct version of the JAVA program (p=0.007) than those who only answered the questionnaire (Study1). In the validation study of the Internet based hearing test the Pearson correlation coefficient was 0.94 (p<0.0001) for the right ear and 0.93 for the left (p=0.0001). The sensitivity for hearing loss was 75% [95% CI, 51%-90%], and the specificity was 96% [95% CI, 86%-99%]. The test-retest reproducibility was excellent (Study 2). In Study 3 subjective severe hearing impairment was reported by 195/1771 (11%), while 23/202 (11%) exhibited HFHI upon testing with Internet-based audiometry. As many as 328/1771 (19%) had never used hearing protection during hunting. In the preceding 5 years, 785/1771 (45%), had fired >6 unprotected gunshots with HRC. The adjusted PR of HFHI when reporting 1-6 unprotected gunshots with HRC, relative to 0, was 1.5 [95% (CI) 1.1-2.1; P = 0.02]. We could not verify any excessive HFHI prevalence among 89 hunters reporting unprotected exposure to such gunshot noise >6 times. In Study 4, current daily use of tobacco was reported by 61 hunters (19 cigarettes, 47 moist snuff, and 5 both. Tobacco users tended to be younger, to fire more shots with HRC weapons, and to report more hunting days. Their adjusted PR (1-6 unprotected HRC shots versus 0) was 3.2 (1.4-6.7), p <0.01. Among non-users of tobacco the corresponding PR was 1.3 (0.9-1.8), p=0.18. P value for the interaction was 0.01. The importance of ear protection could not be quantified among hunters with HRC weapons because our data suggested that the HFHI outcome had led to changes in the use of such protection. Among hunters using weapons with less sound energy, however, no or sporadic use of hearing protection was linked to a 60% higher prevalence of HFHI, relative to habitual use. Hearing ability can be accurately screened with a PC, an internet connection, and a pair of headphones among a willing population. The thesis results support the notion of a wide variation in individual susceptibility to impulse noise. Susceptible individuals may sustain long-lasting or possibly irreversible damage to the inner ear from just one or a few shots, furthermore Tobacco use modifies the association between exposure to unprotected impulse noise from HRC weapons and the probability of having HFHI among susceptible hunters. The mechanisms remain to be clarified, but since the effect modification was apparent also among users of smokeless tobacco, combustion products may not be critical.

## LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following studies, which will be referred to in the text by their numerals:

- Bexelius C, Honeth L, Ekman A, et al. Evaluation of an internet-based hearing test--comparison with established methods for detection of hearing loss. J Med Internet Res 2008; 10: e32. http://www.jmir.org/2008/4/e32/
- Honeth L, Bexelius C, Eriksson M, Sandin S, Litton JE, Rosenhall U, Nyren O, Bagger-Sjoback D. An internet-based hearing test for simple audiometry in nonclinical settings: preliminary validation and proof of principle. Otol Neurotol 2010 Jul;31(5):708-14.
- Honeth L, Ström P, Ploner A, Bagger-Sjöbäck D, Rosenhall U, Nyrén O. Shooting history and presence of high-frequency hearing impairment in Swedish hunters: A cross-sectional internet-based observational study. Noise and Health 2015 septoct, vol 18.
- 4. Honeth L, Ström P, Ploner A, Bagger-Sjöbäck D, Rosenhall U, Nyrén O. Tobacco-modified association between unprotected exposure to noise from hunting rifle caliber weapons and high frequency hearing loss. A cross- sectional study among Swedish hunters. Submitted for publication.

# CONTENTS

	ABBREVIATIONS	14
1.	INTRODUCTION	15
	1.1 Basic acoustics	15
	1.1 Hearing impairment	16
	1.2 Noise-induced hearing loss (NIHL)	16
	1.1.1 Individual susceptibility	18
	1.3 Hunters and shooting	19
	1.4 Measuring hearing ability	20
	1.4.1 Neurophysiological methods	21
	1.4.2 Psychoacoustic methods	21
	1.5 E-epidemiology	23
	1.5.1 Internet surveys	23
	1.5.2 The Internet and hearing tests	23
	1.1.2 Validity and reliability	24
	1.6 Tobacco (cigarettes and snus) and hearing	25
	1.6.1 Cigarettes	25
	1.6.2 Snus	26
2.	AIMS OF THE THESIS	27
3.	MATERIAL AND METHODS	28
	3.1. Study design	28
	3.1.1 Questionnaire	29
	3.1.2 The Hearing test	30
	3.1.2.2 The InternetAudio test	31
	3.2 Study group	33
	3.2.1 Study 1	33
	3.2.2 Study 2	33
	3.2.3 Studies 3 and 4	34

	3.3 Data collection	
	3.3.1 Study 1	
	3.3.2 Study 2	
	3.3.3 Study 3	
	3.3.3.1 Graded variables	
	3.3.3.2 Dichotomous variables	
	3.3.3 Measures of outcome	
	3.3.4 Study 4	
	3.4 Statistical methods	
	3.4.1 Study 1	
	3.4.2 Study 2	
	3.4.3 Study 3	
	3.4.4 Study 4	
4.	ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	
5.	RESULTS	40
	5.1 Study 1	40
	5.1.1 Hearing test	41
	5.2 Study 2	41
	5.2.1 Validity	41
	5.3 Study 3	44
	5.3.1 Responders	44
	5.3.2 Non-responders	
	5.3.3 Association between exposure to unprotected noise	
	from hunting rifle caliber weapons and HFHI	
	5.3.4 Association between exposure to unprotected noise	
	from rifles with other calibers and HDHI	
	5.4 Study 4	

6.	DISCUSSION	56
	6.1 Methodological considerations	56
	6.1.1 Causal interference	56
	6.1.1.1 Random errors and precision	56
	6.1.1.2 Systematic errors and validity	56
	6.1.1.2.1 Selection bias	57
	6.1.1.2.2 Information bias	59
	6.1.1.2.3 Erroneous attribution of causality	59
	6.1.1.2.3.1 Reverse causation	59
	6.1.1.2.3.2 Confounding	60
	6.1.2 Effect Measure Modification/effect modification	61
	6.1.3 InternetAudio test	62
	6.2 Findings and implications	63
	6.2.1 Study 1	63
	6.2.2 Study 2	64
	6.2.3 Study 3	64
	6.2.4 Study 4	66
	6.2.4.1 Effect measure modification by tobacco use	66
	6.2.4.2 Hearing protection and number of hunting days	67
7.	CONCLUSION AND FUTURE STUDIES	68
8.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	69
9.	REFERENCES	71

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

dB	Decibel
Hz	Hertz
kHz	kiloHertz
SPL	Sound pressure level
NIHL	Noise induced hearing loss
TTS	Temporary threshold shift
PTS	Permanent threshold shift
PR	Prevalence ratios
HFHI	High frequency hearing impairment
HRC	Hunting rifle caliber
CVD	Cardio vascular disease
RP-HL	The reference person's hearing level
TP-HL	The test person's hearing level
HL	Hearing level
CI	Conficence interval
СО	Carbon Monoxide
TSNA	Tobacco-specific nitrosamines
OAE	Otoacoustic emissions

# 1 INTRODUCTION

## 1.1 BASIC ACOUSTICS

Hearing ability among young humans range from the frequencies 20-20 000 Hertz (Hz). The sound pressure is measured in the unit Pascal (Pa) and is related to the changes of the static atmospheric pressure caused by a sound wave. Humans can hear sound pressures as low as  $20\mu$ Pa and at 60 Pa we experience pain. When objectively expressing different sound pressure levels a logarithmic scale and the unit decibel sound pressure level (dB SPL) is used. This is an objective measure, and is not to be confused with loudness, which is connected to our perception, psycho-physical sensation, of how loud a sound is (e.g. the volume of music). The loudness perception varies between individuals. A 3 dB rise in SPL is a doubling of the power level, but it usually takes a 10 dB rise for humans to perceive a sound as twice as high.

The weakest perceptible sound level is called the hearing threshold. The hearing threshold varies with the frequencies and the human ear is most sensitive to sound in the frequency span of 2-4 kHz. Because of this variable sensitivity, different weightings have been established for measuring sounds that might be hazardous for the hearing and to give an approximation of how the human ear perceives the noise. A-weighting is most commonly used when measuring environmental noise.



Fig 1. Decibel scale

## 1.1 HEARING IMPAIRMENT

In this thesis the word hearing impairment instead of loss will be used with one exception, noise induced hearing loss (NIHL). This is according to the WHO International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health, ICF 2001 (1).

With increasing age there is a progressive hearing impairment, starting at the higher frequencies. Apart from age, hearing can also be affected by noise exposure, genetic factors, diseases, trauma, chemicals and medication.

Sweden has 1.4 million persons with self-assessed hearing problems which affect their ability to hear conversations. About half a million of those have hearing aids (2). Approximately 700 000 with self-assessed hearing problems are in the working ages (16-64 years) (3). During the last 30 years self-assessed hearing problems among the middle-aged has increased without clear reasons. Statistics show that early retirement is twice as common among those with hearing problems, which indicate the medical burden for the individual and society (2).

## 1.2 NOISE-INDUCED HEARING LOSS (NIHL)

Noise is defined as unwanted sound. Noise with rather small variations in the sound levels and with extended exposure is called continuous. It is occupational or environmental. This type of noise can cause gradually developing NIHL most often affecting both ears; Noise is also sudden intense sounds with short durations, called impulse noise, such as explosions, metallic sounds from sheet-metal work or noise from firearms. High impulse noise can cause acute acoustic trauma and NIHL. This type of NIHL is often onesided (one ear) and with a steep audiogram curve on one or two frequencies.

There are regulations on the permitted noise levels at work devised to reduce the risk for NIHL. These regulations specify that the daily dB(A) SPL during an 8 hour day at work should not exceed 80-85 (continuous) and the peak levels SPL (impulse) should not exceed 135 (4). If these noise levels are reached or exceeded hearing protection should be used. The risk criteria for noise exposure are specified in the standard ISO 1999 (2013). Leisure-time noise is only subjected to public health recommendations (5, 6). According to these recommendations the peak dB SPL should not exceed 110 (6). Both continuous and impulse noise might subject the cochlea in the inner ear to a harmful amount of sound energy and affect the hearing ability in similar pathways by wearing down the fine structures of the cochlea over time (continuous) or instantly (impulse). The effects on the cochlea is both of metabolic and mechanical character, depending on the noise levels and time of exposition.

More specifically, noise reduces the blood flow to the cochlea (7) and activates the mitochondria in the hair cells and induces the excess production of the neurotransmitter glutamate (8) and free radicals (9). This causes toxic swelling, and induces cell death in the organ of Corti. The inner and outer hair cells, their stereocilia, the basilar membrane and even the organ of Corti as a whole can be damaged (10). The outer hair cells are the most vulnerable and are the first to be affected by intense noise levels. The production of free radicals will continue up to 10 days after exposure and the cell death can be seen up to 14 days after exposure (11).



Fig 2. Cochlear cross-section (Fred the Oyster, Wikimedia commons)

Exposure to high intensity noise either of impulse noise or intense continuous noise might result in tinnitus and/ or acute hearing loss, and hyperacusis (12). The acute hearing loss called a temporal threshold shift (TTS) and the other mentioned symptoms might disappear after a period of rest, or be reduced depending on the extent of the damage, the recovery speed and state of the protective antioxidant system of the cells. The recovery might take hours, days or even months (13) and if it is insufficient there will be a permanent threshold shift (PTS) for life, a NIHL.

Typically the development of the NIHL is most evident in the first years of exposure to noise, Changes seen in the audiometry mostly involve the frequencies 4 and 6 kHz (14), but PTS might also affect 3 kHz. In this thesis we study hearing loss of 25 dB or more on 4 or 6 kHz, which we define as a high frequency hearing impairment (HFHI).

After having developed the NIHL can remain quite stable in spite of years of exposure, until it starts aggravating again with older age (14). The effect of ageing on hearing ability has been shown to override the effect of long-time noise exposure of dB levels of 85-90 (15), and this will hamper the possibilities to study small effects on the hearing ability of a specific noise in observational studies.

### 1.1.1 Individual susceptibility

Different individuals have different susceptibility to develop hearing impairment in response to noise, depending on age, gender, height, pigmentation, medical condition, smoking and environmental factors as chemicals, ototoxic substances, (16). This has been tested in historical provocation experiments where volunteers were exposed to unprotected gun-shot noise (13, 17). Some of the volunteers did not show any TTS when exposed, whereas others exhibited very marked and pronounced TTS. The latter individuals had detectable hearing loss for a long time (>2 month) after exposure, even though the depth of the hearing loss diminished over time (17). This between-individual variation in recovery to impulse noise was also seen by Luz and Hodge (18) and Dancer et al (19).

In recent years the genetic components in the variability/susceptibility to develop hearing impairment in response to noise, has become more evident (20-22). The research on genetic influence has focused on genes involved in the different pathways regulating features of the cochlea, such as cochlear elements (e.g., stereocilia and cadherins), genes that are involved in the antioxidant recovery system (SOD and Glutation), genes involved in potas-

sium recycling (potassium is very important for sensory transduction in the cochlea) (23), and genes responsible for the production of heat-shock proteins (heat-shock proteins can be protective for the ear, when exposed to noise).

## 1.3 HUNTERS AND SHOOTING

Recreational firearms can produce peak noise levels between 156-163 dB SPL, depending on type of weapon and ammunition (24). These sound levels may cause irreparable damage to the cochlea, even after just a single shot (25). Hearing protection such as ear plugs and ear muffs are useful and protect the ear (26) (27). They give a sound attenuation in field studies, if used correctly, of respectively 22-35 dB SPL and 18-20 dB SPL(28). However, Swedish and international research have shown low use of hearing protection when hunting compared to training shooting (29) (30).

Cross-sectional Swedish studies among hunters have reported a high percentage of hearing loss on the noise frequencies 3, 4 and 6 kHz, even at rather low ages (31, 32). These studies are also supported by international data reporting a 57-100% increased odds of having a marked high-frequency (4, 6 and 8kHz) hearing loss among hunters, and an increasing prevalence with increasing number of years of shooting (32, 33). In an American study among workers exposed to occupational noise, recreational shooting was associated with an average of 5-10 dB higher decibel hearing level (dBHL) in the 3-6 kHz frequencies (34). Similarly, a Norwegian survey found the same frequencies to be most affected by impulse noise (mostly shooting)(35).

None of these studies examined type of weapon specifically or number of shots and their effect on the hearing ability.

In Sweden 2014/15, there were 290 236 hunting permits sold, of which 6-7% were sold to women (36). The hunters are spread all over the country. To be able to buy a hunting permit you have to have a hunter's license and to use a hunting-weapon a hunting weapon license is needed. Normally there is an age limit of 18 years to get a hunting weapon license, but there are exceptions.

The measurement of the width/ diameter of a bullet or a gun barrel is called caliber. It is expressed in English measurements like hundredths or thousandths of an inch or in millimeters, depending on where the bullet was developed (Europe or the U.S.). The name of the constructor that first designed the bullet is also often a part of the name of the ammunition/bullet. Shotguns have a different measurement called gauge, which also expresses the inside diameter of the shotgun barrel. In Sweden bullet weapons are divided into weapon classes 1-4, depending on bullet weight and impact energy, but in this thesis, for international reasons, we use the following classification of hunting weapons according to their use and the expected peak SPL emitted when hunting.

**Table 1.** Examples of hunting rifles in three categories; Hunting rifle calibers; lighterrifle calibers; shotguns, and the names of the most common ammunitionused for the different weapon types.

	Hunting rifle calibers	Lighter rifle calibers	Shotguns
Un-weighted peak dB SPL, microphone		placed 3 cm from the shooter's left ear	
	163 (30-06)	141 (.22 long rifle (LR))	161 (.12 gauge)
Most commo	on calibers (bullets)		
	6.5 x 55 mm	.22 long rifle (LR)	.20
	7 x 57 mm		
	7 mm Remington Mag- num		
	.30-06 Springfield		.16
	.308 Winchester		
	.300 Winchester Magnum		
	.338 Winchester Magnum		.12
	.375 Holland &Holland		
Uses			
	Larger game	Small game, training	Small game (bird, rabbit, hare, badger, fox) and, skeet shooting

## 1.4 MEASURING HEARING ABILITY

Hearing ability can be graded according to the WHO classification into normal hearing versus slight, moderate, severe and profound hearing impairment based on the average of the hearing threshold of the frequencies 0.5, 1, 2 and 4 kHz of hearing in the better ear, (37). **Table 2.** Grading of hearing impairment according to WHO. 4FA = average ofhearing threshold levels in dB, of the better ear at 0.5, 1, 2 and 4 kHz.

	WHO
Grade of impairment	4FA
Normal	≤25
Slight	26-40
Moderate	41-60
Severe	61-80
Profound	≥80

Hearing ability can be measured with many different methods; both where the subject is rather passive (neurophysiological methods), and where the subject interacts (psychoacoustic methods).

### 1.4.1 Neurophysiological methods

These methods are used in animal research as well as in the clinic on infants and adults. In auditory brain stem response (ABR), electrodes are placed on the head and the ear is stimulated with clicks or tone pulses. The electric response elicited in the auditory nerve and brainstem are registered. The required sound levels of the clicks or tone pulses which raise a measurable electric response indicates the hearing threshold of the tested frequency. This can be done while the subject is at sleep or under sedation.

Oto acoustic emission, (OAE) is done as a screening test for hearing ability on all newborns in Sweden. The method measures the oto-emissions that are sent from the outer hair cells in response to short emitted sounds. This is preferably done with the subject resting or sleeping. A small soft probe containing both an emitter and a microphone is placed in the ear canal and the oto emissions reproducibility in percentage are measured in several frequencies.

### 1.4.2 Psychoacoustic methods

The most common way to asses hearing ability and is called clinical pure tone audiometry (38). This technique is widely used both in the clinic, in occupational medicine and in epidemiological studies. The hearing levels in dB, across the frequencies 0,125; 0,25; 0,5; 1; 2; 3; 4; 6 and 8 kHz are measured for each ear separately. The presentation levels vary between -10 dB HL up to a maximum of 100, 110 dB HL. The clinical pure-tone audiometry is done in sound proof booths with calibrated equipment by specially educated and trained personnel. It is possible to measure both air and bone-conducted hearing. Masking of the opposite ear is done when necessary. Clinical pure-tone audiometry is used to diagnose type and severity of the hearing impairment and follows the international standards of ISO 8253-1 (39). With screening audiometry, most often performed with computerized automatic audiometry, air-conducted screening hearing tests can be performed in schools and work places by lay people at a lower cost compared to regular clinical pure-tone audiometry. In screening audiometry the presentation levels varies from the screening levels 0 dB HL (or  $\pm$ 10 dB HL) up to 90 dB HL.



Fig. 3. Clinical pure-tone audiometry with a moderate to mild bilateral NIHL at 3, 4 and 6 kHz.

Speech-test and speech-in-noise test are tests which measures speech intelligibility in quiet and in noise, using sentences as speech material and a fixed signal-to-noise ratio. The result of the test is mostly given as the speech reception threshold (SRTn), which is defined as the signal-to-noise ratio for a person to recognize 50% of the speech material correctly. It was originally developed to test the benefit of hearing aids and is sometimes said to test hearing ability more as a social function.

# 1.5 E-EPIDEMIOLOGY

E-epidemiology has been defined as the scientific activity "underlying the acquisition, maintenance and application of epidemiological knowledge and information using digital media such as the internet, mobile phones, digital paper, digital TV. E-epidemiology also refers to the large-scale epidemiological studies that are increasingly conducted through distributed global collaborations enabled by the Internet." (40).

### 1.5.1 Internet surveys

In Sweden in year 2015, 93% of the population have access to the Internet and actually 91% use it (41). Ninety-two percent have access to a computer, 77% has a smartphone. However 200 000 Swedes who have access to Internet at home do not use it-lack of interest is given as the main cause (41).

The use of Internet surveys in research has dramatically changed the conditions for data collection and storage by offering better and quicker data sorting, filing and storage and less data entry errors but it has also introduced new problems. Sample bias as "the digital divide", and lower response rates have been two major concerns (42). The digital divide is the notion that responders in Internet surveys tend to be younger and better educated (42-44). Lower response rates in Internet surveys than other survey types are more debatable, as the response rates in all types of scientific surveys have generally been declining in the last decades (45, 46). In several recent comparisons on the data collection technologies there are no or very slight differences in the response rates between the different study types (Internet-, paper-, combination paper- and Internet studies) (42) (47).

### 1.5.2 The Internet and hearing tests

The need for more cost-efficient methods to measure hearing ability and offer intervention services at distant geographic locations as well as the wish to embrace new technologies as the Internet and computers have driven the demand/ need for tele-audiology (48) (49).

Today many commercial hearing aid companies offer a wide range of hearing tests on the Internet and on smartphones, however scientifically validated and completely self-administered Internet-based hearing tests are still as scarce today as they were when the planning of this thesis started in 2005-06. Within the clinic there are some scientifically evaluated tele-Internet-audiometry tests (50-52). However, these tests often require a simultaneous Internet and

telephone-connected audiologist at the clinical location, and a computer, audiometer and telephone at the patient location, or special sound cards, or modules which still make them demanding in terms of personnel and other resources.

In later years several speech-in-noise tests for the Internet or telephone have emerged. Speech-in-noise tests are easier to adapt to the new technology. As the test result is given as a ratio between the signal and the underlying noise, the need for calibration is not a major concern. They have showed to be costefficient and quite accurate methods to assess the general hearing ability for speech (53) (54, 55). This type of tests are better than questionnaires for selfestimation of hearing ability (56), but they give little room for examining dBdifferences in specific frequencies as would a regular audiometry test.

The current evolution of NIHL relies to a large extent on exact threshold estimates in the high frequency range. Speech-in-noise-tests are not sensitive enough to capture these small notches, indicative of an impending NIHL. Scientifically validated self-administered Internet-hearing tests are needed if the objective is to more precisely quantify smaller and frequency-specific hearing impairment in large scale epidemiological studies and/ or to quantify intraindividual changes. To at all be able to conduct hearing test investigations on a geographically widespread community at a reasonable cost, e.g. hunters, modern IT-technology is necessary. Apart from all other advantages it makes it possible to test participants in their homes, with electronic equipment that they already possess.

## 1.1.2 Validity and reliability

Before using a new test-technique, like a screening hearing-test on the Internet, it has to be thoroughly validated to assess the risk of measurement error. This is typically done by using a gold standard test to determine the accuracy of the new test. After dichotomization of the test results, both in the new test and in the gold standard test, into "sick"/ "not sick" and comparing the results it is possible to decide the sensitivity and specificity for the new test (57).

Sensitivity, also called the true positive rate measures the proportion of truly sick people that is correctly detected by the test as being sick. It should be close to 1. Specificity, also called the true negative rate measures the proportion of truly not sick people that is correctly detected as being not sick by the test. This should also be close to 1. The sensitivity and the specificity are relatively

stable characteristics of the test, but they can change if the test-population is dramatically different from the population intended for the test concerning e.g. age, co-morbidity or tendency to seek medical advice (58).

To evaluate a new test's ability to predict the true disease status, given a certain result from the test in the tested population, the positive and negative predictive values can be calculated on the same data as the sensitivity and specificity. These values are highly dependent on the prevalence (also called the pre-test probability) of the tested disease in the test population. The predictive values help in determining if a diagnostic test should be used as a screening test or not in a certain population depending on the prevalence of the examined disease (57) (59).

Another important measure when evaluating a new test is the reliability. It is essentially a measure of random error in the test result. It is typically measured as the test's ability to reproduce the same result on the same individual when the person is re-tested (therefore sometimes called "repeatability"). The reliability is expressed as some coefficient of agreement; in the case of dichotomous outcomes, such as sick- not sick, the  $\kappa$  (kappa) statistic is most common. This should be close to 1, indicating high similarity of the test-retest results.

## 1.6 TOBACCO (CIGARETTES AND SNUS) AND HEARING

Twenty percent of the Swedish population in the ages 16-84, smoke tobacco daily or sporadically (only daily use is 9% among men, and 11% among women) according to the health survey done by the Public Health Agency of Sweden in 2015 (60). Daily Snus use (Swedish moist snuff, typically administered as quids behind the upper lip) among men is more common (19%), than among women (4%).

## 1.6.1 Cigarettes

Observational research has indicated that cigarette smoking aggravates hearing impairment following continuous noise (61-68). The smoking effect combined with exposure to continuous noise is seen in both high and low frequencies and with a dose-response relationship (64). The effect of smoking combined with exposure to impulse noise on hearing is less studied.

The cause of the potentiated effect of continuous noise on hearing by smoking is debated and probably multifactorial. Tobacco contains, apart from nicotine, different types of tobacco-specific nitrosamines, TSNAs (69) (70-72). TSNAs are mainly known as potent carcinogens (73), by damaging the cell's DNA(74). This cytotoxic effect can be potentiated in cell cultures by free radicals (75). When smoking there is a production of carbon monoxide (CO), which has been shown to induce hearing loss in high doses (76). CO and nicotine are factors influencing the microcirculation in the organ of Corti, leading to a decrease of the local circulation (77) as well as affecting the formation of free radicals adding to the oxidative stress which is already caused by noise exposure (78). Moreover smoking causes a general inflammatory process in the body which also might involve the cochlea (78). However, human provocation experiments have revealed a smaller TTS upon noise exposure among smokers than among non-smokers after exposure noise but not after chewing a nicotine gum which had an opposite effect on non-smokers (larger TTS)(79). This apparent protective effect by smoking was thought to be attributable to (CO)(79). On the other hand profound and dose-dependent damages in guinea pigs' cochlear hair cells and in the supportive cells have been reported after subcutaneous injections of nicotine and examination with electron microscopy (80).

#### 1.6.2 Snus

Snus use involves exposure to nearly the same chemicals as does tobacco smoking, with the important difference that there is no exposure to combustion products such as CO. The nicotine levels of normal use of snus is similar with normal use of cigarettes (81). The levels of TSNAs in Swedish snus is relatively low, as the snus is based on a low-nitrate tobacco and does not undergo any fermentation process (69). Snus use has been associated with higher blood pressure (82), and endothelial dysfunction (83) which indicates vascular changes, but there are studies that contradict these results (84) (85). To our knowledge there is no published research on the association between snus use and NIHL.

# 2 AIMS OF THE THESIS

- To evaluate a completely Internet based investigation package for hearing assessment consisting of a questionnaire and a hearing test, in regard of feasibility and face validity. (Study 1)
- To validate the Internet based hearing test with clinical audiometry as gold standard. (Study 2)
- To use the investigation package to study the association of shooting history (rifle calibers, hearing protection, and frequency of shots in total and shots without protection) in relation to the probability of having HFHI among Swedish hunters. (Study 3)
- To investigate differences between hunters with and without HFHI in regard to patterns of exposure to modifiable external factors. (Study 4)
- To test the hypothesis that tobacco use (in the form of cigarette smoking or snus use, or both) effect-modifies the association between a history of unprotected exposure to impulse noise from HRC weapons and probability of having HFHI. (Study 4)

# 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 3.1 STUDY DESIGN

Studies 1, 3 and 4 all had the same study design; cross-sectional and completely Internet based. A homepage was constructed for the study. It contained information about the study and instructions for participants. It also contained an extensive questionnaire and an Internet-based audiometry test. In study 1, invitations were sent by regular mail to the participants together with the link to the study homepage, a personal username and a password. In studies 3 and 4 e-mailed invitations were sent with instructions about how to create your personal log-in on the study homepage.

Study 1 aimed at evaluating the feasibility of collecting epidemiological data on hearing ability with this completely Internet-based method among a selected group of Swedish hunters. The willingness to participate and possible reasons for non-participation, including technical obstacles were of special interest. The Internet-based hearing test was also evaluated in terms of comparing the test to a question on self-estimated hearing in the questionnaire.

Study 3 aimed at examining shooting history (rifle calibers, hearing protection, and frequency of shots in total and shots without protection) in relation to the probability of having HFHI. In this study we also examined the potential for selection bias due to non-participation, by sending out e-mails, with 3 questions, to invitees who had not responded or declined participation within 18 months after the initial invitation to participate in the study. Furthermore, the InternetAudio test was further validated under authentic conditions by those participants who had completed the test at home, lived in the vicinity to Stockholm, and had given an affirmative answer to a question in the questionnaire about their willingness to undergo a pure-tone clinical audiometry at the Karolinska University Hospital audiology department.

Study 4, aimed at investigating differences between hunters with and without HFHI in regard to patterns of exposure to modifiable external factors but also to test the hypothesis that tobacco use effect-modifies the association between a history of unprotected exposure to impulse noise from HRC weapons and probability of having HFHI. The last aim in this study was to investigate if the effect modification, if any, by tobacco smoking looks different from that caused by use of snus. Snus use entails exposure to essentially the same chemicals as does tobacco smoking (72), with the important difference that there is no exposure to combustion products.

Study 2 was a cross-sectional validation and repeatability study done using clinical pure-tone air-conducted audiograms as gold standard. The participants were both outpatients with suspected hearing impediments, who were referred for clinical audiometry to the Department of Audiology at the Karolinska University Hospital, Solna, and staff from the same hospital. The patients received a written invitation to the study, enclosed with the letter that confirmed the appointment. The hospital staff was contacted through verbal information and invitation letters handed out at staff meetings. Because the test is primarily designed for people in working ages, we restricted the validation study to individuals younger than 75 years.

### 3.1.1 Questionnaire

For the purpose of studies 1, 3 and 4 we constructed a questionnaire. The questions in the questionnaire were partly derived from:

- Questions on hearing ability and noise at drafting for military service. (86)
- Tinnitus Handicap inventory-THI. (87)
- H70 questionnaire. (88)
- Handicap and standard audiometric tests in elderly persons. (89)
- SCB:s ULF, undersökning av levnadsförhållanden; ULF 2005:1-2
- Hearing measurement scale. (90)

The questionnaire consisted of 143- 163 questions and subqueries, concerning sociodemographic characteristics, hunting habits, caliber use, use and type of hearing protection, number of shots with and without hearing protection, and self-estimated hearing. The questionnaire also covered possible confounding factors, e.g. exposure to noise at work, during military service or in connection with leisure-time activities, ear diseases, and other diseases possibly affecting hearing ability. We asked about regular use of anticoagulants and analgesics. We further asked about the use of cigarettes and snus. We asked of family histories of hearing impairment, including use of hearing aids. In study 1 there was also a section after the hearing test concerning technical questions on the computer, type of headphones and version of JAVA program. This part of the questionnaire was excluded in study 3 and 4.

To be able to proceed in the survey, all items had to be answered. (Appendix complete questionnaire).

### 3.1.2 The Hearing test

#### 3.1.2.1 Development

Before the start of this Thesis work an inventory of the available internetbased hearing test was made. At the time, two Internet sites offered interesting examples of completely Internet-based hearing test. The one from www. digital-recordings.com, was evaluated compared to clinical audiometry, by parts of the early research group, in a small clinical test of 20 persons (data not shown). The test-results were promising, but the test needed several general improvements.

Performing a hearing test in the home environment by yourself with your own equipment, entails certain challenges:

- noise from computer fans, and constant background sounds,
- the headphones and theirs sound emitting properties,
- the performance of the computer sound cards,
- sudden noise which will disturb the test person,
- test failure due to inability to follow instructions on how to use the test.

The first 3 obstacles could be reduced by some sort of calibration, and biological calibration became the method of choice. The fourth obstacle was thought to be removed by letting the test person repeat the test as many times as wanted. The problem of failure to follow instructions is difficult to avoid, but efforts were made to make the instructions as clear as possible.

In order not to make the test too time-consuming, which could reduce the willingness to carry on with the test, the level of 60 dB SPL was set as the tested sound limit. This limit was also a consequence of the expected dynamic range from ordinary PC/ headphones, limited by their signal-to-noise ratio. However, our pre-studies had shown that even the most expensive commercial headphones vary in quality of frequency emission. Many of the headphones had "dead points" where the tone had reduced intensity or was distorted at specific frequencies (data not shown). This problem was reduced by using a frequency modulated sinus tone that is a slightly oscillating tone instead of a pure sinus tone, i.e. a narrow band noise centered on a sinus tone. In this way the drawback of poor frequency response of the headphones is reduced.

Before settling with these improvements the hearing test was again evaluated compared to clinical audiometry, in a small clinical test of 19 persons. It had now a specificity of 1 and sensitivity of 0.77 (data not shown). Further, less important improvements were made during the course of this thesis, but mainly before study 2. The final version of the Internet-based hearing test is called the InternetAudio test and is used in studies 3 and 4.

#### 3.1.2.2 The InternetAudio test

The final hearing test which is used in study 3 and 4, is a JAVA program which is downloaded on the computer. The test person had to provide the headphones. "Biological calibration" is needed. The calibration is similar to the clinical zero decibel (dB)-value. It is done by a reference person, between the ages of 14 and 35 with subjective normal hearing. The reference person's hearing level (RP-HL) is controlled in the calibration test. This calibration test measures the RP-HL within a 30 dB-level of the six tested frequencies, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8 kilohertz (kHz). The reference person determines his/her HL with a volume marker on a ruler of 300 units on the computer screen. The tone at each frequency is presented to both ears simultaneously to get the RP-HL from the better ear, and the volume marker has to be adjusted to the level at which the tone is barely audible. The tone is a frequency modulated sinus tone- a slightly vibrating tone. Certain criteria have to be met in the calibration process for it to pass. (1) The RP-HL is not approved if the volume marker has not been moved at any frequency. (2) If the dB-values exceed a range of 15 dB SPL, or (3) if the volume marker has exactly the same dB-value on more than two frequencies. The latter is to rule out visual positioning of the marker. The calibration process is done twice, and if it has similar results it is accepted and the RP-HL is considered to be the zero-level of dB for this computer, headphones and environment. The actual hearing test of the test person can then proceed.

Six frequencies, 0.5,1,2,4,6,8 kHz, are tested. Tones are presented to each ear separately in random order and at random intervals varying between 4-6 seconds. This is to avoid presumption, and is in conformity with the recommendations in the Swedish methodology book for audiometric testing (91, 92). The sound level range between 0-60 dB SPL. The test person determines his/ her hearing level (TP-HL) by pressing the keyboard space bar when a tone is detected. If the tone is not heard, it is presented at a 10 dB higher level. If the tone is heard, it is presented at a 5dB lower level. To avoid ambiguity the space bar must be pressed within a 1 second time interval from when the tone is presented. If more than 10 responses are recorded outside these time limits, the test is automatically classified as being invalid and is not approved or saved on the website server. The test person is asked to do the test again.

The final and approved hearing result of the test person is the decibel difference between the RP-HL and the TP-HL, and is presented on the computer screen as an audiogram curve with a written explanation of how to interpret the results. The number of late/ early space-bar strokes is also presented. The test result (including the reference person's result) is saved on the web-site server. The total time consumption of the actual hearing test is approximately 15-25 minutes, depending on hearing ability.



Fig. 4 InternetAudio test result as presented on the computer screen. Here with a mild bilateral hearing loss at 8 kHz.

In study 1 the Internet-based hearing test had the following differences compared to the Internet Audio test. First, the calibration process had no quality check and it was possible to proceed with the actual hearing test, even if the calibration process had failed. This calibration process was only done once. Second, the dB level of the next tone presented, when a tone was registered as not heard, was at a 6 dB higher level and when heard, at a 6 dB lower level, instead of 10 dB as in the other studies.

In the internet-based hearing test used in study 2, the calibration process was not done twice as in studies 3 and 4. The accepted number of late/ early spacebar strokes in study 2 was set to 5 (instead of 10 in studies 3 and 4), before the test was automatically classified as being invalid and not approved or saved.

# 3.2 STUDY GROUP

### 3.2.1 Study 1

An invitation letter was sent to 560 members of the Swedish Hunters' Association. Subjects were selected proportionally to the distribution among the members in terms of gender (men=500, women = 60) and age in the age group 20-60. The postal invitation included a description of the study, a personal log-in and password. The invitation also included a prepaid return letter where the participants could decline participation. This letter included a voluntary question about reason for non-participation. The data collection was closed after 6 months. Fig 5 presents the flow chart.



## 3.2.2 Study 2

Seventy-two patients and staff consented to undergo the validation test, 79 % were women, and, 96% were in the working ages between 19 and 65. For the reproducibility test, 12 additional persons, seven of the staff and five non-staff, were asked to do the Internet-based test twice with at least 30 minutes interval between. This test was done for each group in two different locations outside the clinic, with one reference person for each group. Of the 246 patients who were approached, 8% agreed to participate. Fifty-two (22%) of 240 invited staff members participated. Of the 72 patients and staff who consented to undergo the test, 79% (57 persons) were women, and 96% were in the working ages between 19 and 65 years

#### 3.2.3 Studies 3 and 4

E-mail invitations, including 2 e-mail reminders were sent out to 27 063 email addresses received from the Swedish hunters' association membership roster, 9123 did not lead to functioning e-mail accounts and bounced back, while 2119 reached individuals who actively declined participation. In all, 1937 persons started the survey, 1771 of them completed the questionnaire, and 203 also completed the InternetAudio test. One participant was excluded due to technical evidence suggesting invalid performance in the InternetAudio test, leaving 202 valid InternetAudio tests. In paper 3, 13 of the hunters also completed an additional clinical audiometry at Karolinska University Hospital for validation purposes. To examine possible selection bias due to nonparticipation, we sent an e-mail to all 17940 invitees who had not responded within 18 months after the initial invitation. The e-mail contained three simple questions about exposure and outcome. Figure 6 presents the flowchart



Fig 6. Flow-chart for study 3 and 4

## 3.3 DATA COLLECTION

#### 3.3.1 Study 1

The audiometric data from the hearing test was in paper 1 classified as normal hearing, minor, moderate, and major hearing impairment according to the definition from WHO(37). Normal hearing is set as between 0 and 25 dB on all frequencies. The cut-off level for minor hearing impairment was one or more frequency-values in the range 26-40 dB, for moderate hearing impairment one or more frequency-values in the range 41-60 dB, and for major hearing

impairment one or more frequency-values higher than 60 dB on either frequency (e.g. tone not heard). The result of the hearing test was compared to the self-estimated hearing ability question from the questionnaire prior to the hearing test. The self-assessed hearing status was categorized according to the response categories in the questionnaire (good, slightly reduced, severely reduced, don't want to answer). The analysis is based on the audiometric data from the best ear in the hearing test. The Internet based hearing test and the self-assessed hearing question (within parenthesis) were compared by using a contingency table presenting individuals categorized as normal (good) hearing, minor (slightly reduced), moderate( severely reduced) hearing.

Background data age and gender was provided from the Swedish Hunters' Association for comparison of non-responding invitees, invitees who actively declined participants and respondents. Full respondents were compared with participants who had answered the questionnaire but not completed the hearing test (questionnaire respondents) with regard to different background variables derived from the questionnaire, including age, gender, level of education and number of individuals in household. To evaluate the different technical steps, the full respondents were also compared with the questionnaire respondents by regard of whether or not they had headphones at their home prior to the test, if they had the correct version of JAVA installed on their computers and their willingness of giving their e-mail address for future contact.

### 3.3.2 Study 2

Of the participants, 89% preferred to do the Internet-based test at the hospital using the same reference person and the same locality. The reference person at the clinic was one of the employed technicians in the preferred age span, considered (and later on tested) with normal hearing. The internet Audio test was done in an office at the clinic. Ordinary headphones were used, bought in a computer store. The results of the calibrations of the Internet-based hearing test were all within defined limits. The clinical pure-tone audiometry, including air conduction thresholds at 0.125 - 8 kHz was performed in soundproof booths by licensed audiologists, unaware of the results of the alternative method. The pure-tone levels of the frequencies were determined in 5 dB steps utilizing the shortened ascending method, ISO 8253-1, Tyler, Wood, 1980 (93). THD 39 earphones were used.

The results of the Internet-based hearing test and the pure-tone audiogram were compared at each frequency. The overall results of the respective tests in the individual participant was further classified as "normal hearing" or "hearing impairment", according to a classification system for noise damage by Heijbel-Lidén, modified after Klockhoff (94). The cut-off level for "hearing impairment" in the frequencies 0.5 kHz, 1 kHz and 2 kHz was  $\geq 25 \text{ dB}$  in more than one frequency or  $\geq 30 \text{ dB}$  in one frequency. The corresponding cut-off in the frequencies 4 kHz and 6 kHz was  $\geq 45 \text{ dB}$  in either frequencies, or one frequency  $\geq 50 \text{ dB}$ . The 8 kHz frequency was not included in the sensitivity and specificity assessment, as hearing impairment affecting only 8 kHz does not interfere with verbal communication.

When negative dB HL values on the pure/tone audiometry, i.e. minus five or minus ten dB HL were obtained, we adjusted all negative dB values from the pure-tone audiograms to zero, as a negative hearing threshold has no practical/clinical consequence for the patient. The Internet-based hearing test cannot detect negative dB values. If, in the Internet-based hearing test, there was no measured response at a given frequency, an arbitrary level of 65 dB was given, as the hearing test does not test higher dB-values. This adjustment was also made in the clinical audiogram when the dB HL surpassed 60.

When a participant had done several approved Internet-based hearing tests we randomly chose one of them for the comparison with the pure-tone audiogram.

### 3.3.3 Study 3

The questionnaire consisted of 143 questions and subqueries, of which a part was analysed in this study.

### 3.3.3.1 Graded variables

Participants self-estimated the annual number of fired training shots and hunting shots separately per weapon type. Of particular interest was the number of shots fired without hearing protection in the preceding 5 years. Shots fired with hunting rifle calibers generate the highest dB SPL peak levels. The number of unprotected shots (categorized into 0, 1-6, and >6) with these weapons was the exposure of main interest in this study. This shot categorization was chosen in order to have reasonably equally-sized groups in the statistical analysis.

Self-assessed hearing status was categorized according to the response categories in the questionnaire (good, slightly reduced, severely reduced, don't want to answer), along with a special category for missing answers.
#### 3.3.3.2 Dichotomous variables

Classified as exposed to "non-hunting-related noise" were participants who answered affirmatively to at least one of the following questions: if present or past work was believed to have damaged the hearing ability by noise exposure, or if hearing deteriorated during military service, or if military service or leisure activities had caused tinnitus. Only participants who indicated present use of cigarettes and/or smokeless tobacco were classified as "tobacco users". Those who self-reported hypertension, previous myocardial infarction, or use of anticoagulants were categorized as positive for (CVD+). If there was a history of Meniére's disease, sudden deafness, vestibular schwannoma, ear surgery, chronic otitis media, or ear disease as a child, the participant was classified as having "ear disease". Similarly, the classification for "other disease" was positive if an affirmative answer was given in regard to either of a history of meningitis, migraine, head trauma, epilepsy, diabetes, joint disease, or cancer. If an affirmative answer was given in regard to the use of anticoagulants, painkillers or anti-inflammatory medication at least twice a week in the last month, the participant was classified as "anticoagulant/antiinflammatory drug user". When an affirmative answer was given to a question about any family members with a hearing impairment in need of hearing aid before 65 years of age, the participant was classified as having "a family history of hearing impairment".

#### 3.3.3.3 Measures of outcome

Our primary goal was to capture HFHI, and for this reason we only considered hearing levels for the frequencies 4 and 6 kHz, typically affected by severe acoustic trauma. RP-HL values  $\geq$ 25 dB for either of these two frequencies on either ear were categorized as HFHI.

#### 3.3.4 Study 4

Study 4 used the same graded and dichotomous variables and outcome measurements as study 3 with a few exceptions:

Tobacco use was the suspected effect-modifying factor. An affirmative answer to the question "do you smoke cigarettes daily? yes/ no/ don't know", rendered a classification as "cigarette user". This class also included participants who reported smoking cessation in the preceding 5 years. Hunters who answered that they had never smoked or had stopped smoking longer than 5 years ago were classified as "cigarette non-users". The same classification principles were used for snus use. Users of cigarettes, snus, or both were jointly categorized as "tobacco users".

Because of small numbers in some cells in stratified analyses, the response alternatives to a question about use of hearing protection while hunting (always/ often/ sometimes/ rarely or never) were collapsed into always/often versus sometimes/rarely/never. The responses about the average number of hunting days (0/1-5/6-10/11-20)>20 days) were dichotomized into 0-20 days versus >20 days per year. Similarly, the responses to an open-ended question about the average number of shots overall per year (HRC, Magnum and small caliber weapons, during hunting or training and regardless of ear protection) were categorized as 0-50, 51-100 and >100. For shotguns the response alternatives were already given (0-100/101-300/301-500/>500). Age, reported as a discrete numerical variable, was first categorized as 11-35, 36-55, 56-75, 76-91 years, but since its relation to HFHI was apparently linear, it was used as a continuous linear term in the final models.

# 3.4 STATISTICAL METHODS

All four studies have been evaluated in terms of descriptive statistics and calculations have been made using SAS software 9.1.3 (paper 1 and 2), SAS software, version 9.4 (paper 3 and 4). All tests of statistical hypotheses were made on the two-sided 5% level of significance.

# 3.4.1 Study 1

To test if the distribution of subjects across categories of the demographic variables between full compliers and questionnaire completers was equal and the Pearson Chi2 test was used to compare "full respondents" and "only questionnaire-respondents". This test was also used to calculate the statistical significance of the difference between the hearing test and the self-estimated hearing. Cohen's kappa statistics was used to test the agreement between the latter.

# 3.4.2 Study 2

To compare the Internet-based hearing test with the pure-tone audiogram Pearson's correlation coefficient was used to estimate agreement for numerical variables such as dB HL and Cohen's Kappa statistic for dichotomous variables such as hearing impairment versus no hearing impairment. The comparisons were made separately for the left and right ear.

## 3.4.3 Study 3

The probability of having HFHI was modeled as function of the exposure of unprotected gunshot blasts from hunting rifle calibers and the covariates age, sex, number of shots with no ear protection with, respectively, hunting rifle calibers, lighter hunting calibers and shotguns, non-hunting-related noise exposure, education level, tobacco use, CVD, ear disease and family history of hearing impairment. Prevalence ratios (PR) of HFHI associated with different exposure and covariate levels were estimated, as a consistent and conservative alternative to prevalence odds ratios (95). The actual model fit was performed via an approximate Poisson model with robust standard errors(96) which provides less biased estimates than logistic regression (97). The PRs reported were obtained as the exponentiated regression coefficients of the approximating Poisson model. To account for the binary outcome we used the robust sandwich estimator for modeling of the variance. Because of the dominant effect of age on hearing impairment, we performed an extensive goodness-offit analysis where we compared the model with a linear term for age to more complex models involving quadratic term, spline function or categorization of age. In the regression analysis we used a model with a linear term for age. In the smaller intra-study validation of the InternetAudio test in study 3 we did the same adjustments of the hearing data versus clinical audiometry as in study 2, and Pearson's correlation coefficient was calculated for each ear separately.

# 3.4.4 Study 4

In study 4 the same Poisson model as in study 3 is used but the covariates were restricted to age (as a discrete linear variable) and sex as none of the other covariates materially changed the PR of association. Interaction terms (various aspects of tobacco use and shooting noise exposure) were introduced, supplemented by corresponding stratified analyses.

# 4 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The regional ethical committe in Stockholm have approved all four studies. In all studies agreement to enrol in the study was considered informed consent, and all participants had the possibility to terminate participation and withdraw all individual data.

# 5 RESULTS

# 5.1 STUDY 1

After 3 reminders, 162 out of 560 (29%) had completed the questionnaire (questionnaire respondents), of whom 88 (16%) had completed the hearing test (full respondents). After reminders 1 and 2, 146 had actively declined participation, and an additional 84 declined participation during the telephone reminder (total 230, 41% of the total sample). There were 154 individuals who could not be reached or did not contact the study centre. Fourteen invitees entered the password without completing the study.

The distribution of gender was similar in all groups of respondents as in the original sample, declining invitees and the non-respondents. The full respondents were older than the non-respondents and the questionnaire respondents. The full respondents were not statistically significant different from the questionnaire respondents in terms of socio-demographic characteristics or self-estimated hearing prior the test. When looking at the technical attributes, full respondents were statistically significantly more likely to have headphones at home (p=0.003) and the correct JAVA version in their computers (p=0.007) compared to only questionnaire respondents

Table 3 lists the different reasons for declining participation.

Reasons for declining	After paper reminders 1 and 2 n=146	After telephone reminder n=84	Total n=230
Have hearing impairment prior to the study	5 (3%)	1 (1%)	6 (3%)
Have no computer	7 (5%)	10 (12%)	17 (7%)
Have no headphones	27 (18%)	4 (5%)	31 (13%)
Have no reference	3 (2%)	1 (1%)	4 (2%)
Don't trust technique	3 (2%)		3 (1%)
Not interested	62 (42%)	19 (23%)	81 (35%)
Have no time	13 (9%)	26 (31%)	39 (17%)
No experience of hunting	17 (12%)	15 (18%)	32 (14%)
Computer problem	5 (3%)	8 (10%)	13 (7%)
Other	4 (3%)		4 (2%)

Table 3. Reasons for declining	g participation in	study 1.	(n=230).
--------------------------------	--------------------	----------	----------

# 5.1.1 Hearing test

In total 126 Internet-based hearing tests were executed by 88 participants. When there were several tests done per person, the "best" test (i.e., smallest degree of hearing impairment) result was used in the analysis. After removal of tests with an incorrect reference, 61 internet-based hearing tests remained. Mean age was 45 years. Hearing impairment in the self-estimated hearing question was reported by 52% and 20% had a hearing impairment according to the Internet-based hearing test. The Chi-Square test shows this difference to be statistically significant (P < 0.001). Six hunters (50%) of 12 hunters with hearing impairment according to the internet-based hearing test had classified their self-estimated hearing differently. After exclusion of severe hearing impairment the Cohen's kappa coefficient was calculated to 0.18 (95%CI 0.005-0.359), indicating low agreement between self-estimated hearing and the internet-based hearing test.

# 5.2 STUDY 2

# 5.2.1 Validity

Fifty-two of the participants (72%) had normal hearing according to the puretone audiogram performed at the clinic, while 20 (28%) had impaired hearing. Figure 5 shows a scatter-plot of the relationship between averages of the puretone HL across frequencies (0.5-8 kHz) obtained with the pure-tone audiogram (X-axis) and the corresponding averages attained with the Internet-based test (Y-axis) for each ear separately. The Pearson's correlation coefficient was 0.94 (p-value < 0.001) for the right ear and 0.93 for the left (p-value=0.001). In the regression of the pure-tone audiogram on the Internet-based test, the intercept (where the regression line meets the y-axis) for the right ear was -0.66 (95% CI -2.43, 1.10) and the slope 0.85 (95% CI 0.77, 0.92); for the left ear, the intercept was 0.00 (95% CI -1.56, 1.57) and the slope 0.84 (95% CI 0.77, 0.92).

In Figure 8, box-and-whisker diagrams depict, for each tested frequency, the distribution of intra-individual differences between the frequency-specific HL result (dB) of the Internet-based hearing test and the corresponding result of the clinical pure-tone audiogram. A negative value indicates that the audiogram dB HL value is higher than the one obtained with the Internet-based test, and positive value the opposite. For the four lowest frequencies, there was a general tendency toward negative differences (i.e., higher dB values in the pure-tone audiogram than in the Internet-based test), while the mean differences were close to zero for the two highest frequencies. Although the most







Fig 8. Distribution of intra-individual differences between the frequency-specific hearing-level result in dB, (y-axis) and tested frequency in kHz, (x-axis), of the Internet-based hearing test and the corresponding result of the clinical audiogram. The medians are aligned, dots=mean. N=72

extreme values (the ends of the whiskers) show vast deviations for single individuals, the mean differences were small; the greatest mean differences were seen for the frequencies 2 and 4 kHz, with, respectively, -5.6 dB (standard deviation, [SD] 8.29) and -5.1 dB (SD 6.9). The 25th percentiles of intra-individual differences (the lower borders of the boxes) did not exceed -10 dB (it was -7.5 dB at 25th percentiles) for any of the frequencies. In the 0.5 kHz frequency the 50th and the 75th percentile coincided due to many similar dB-values.

Using the definition of hearing impairment described in section of data collection, 24% of the subjects were classified as having a hearing impairment with the Internet-based and 28% with the pure-tone audiometry. The sensitivity was 75 percent (95%CI 51, 90), and the specificity was 96%, (95% CI 86, 99) (Table 4). The Cohen's Kappa comparing the Internet-based hearing test and the pure-tone audiogram done at the clinic was 0.75, (95% CI 0.57, 0.92) for the right ear, and 0.66, (95% CI 0.43, 0.89) for the left. This indicates good agreement between detecting hearing impairment with our Internetbased hearing test compared to a pure-tone audiogram.

Table 4. Sensitivity, specificity, with 95% confidence intervals of the Internet-based<br/>hearing test. Hearing classification according to a modification of the clas-<br/>sification suggested by Klockhoff et al, 1973

	Clinical hearing impairment	Clinical normal hearing
Internet-based hearing impairment	15	2
Internet-based normal hearing	5	50
95%CI	Sensitivity = 75% (51-90)	Specificity =96% (86-99)

The eight individuals who conducted the Internet-based test at home were also analysed separately as to correlation between pure-tone average of all frequencies, and showed a Pearson correlation coefficient of 0.90 (p-value = 0.003) for the left ear, and 0.93 (p-value = 0.007) for the right ear.

5.2.1 Reproducibility/ test-retest reliability

The results of the 12 participants showed that the test-retest reproducibility was excellent, with a Pearson's correlation coefficient of 0.99 (p-value < 0.001) for both ears respectively. The Cohen's kappa of the overall test result (normal hearing versus hearing impairment was 1, (95% CI 1, 1) which means complete agreement, for both left and right ear.

# 5.3 STUDY 3

#### 5.3.1 Responders

Men constituted the overwhelming majority among participants (Table 5). The youngest participant was 11 years and the oldest 91 years of age. Mean age was 52.9 (SD 14.4 years). The overall education level (51% with university education) was higher than in the Swedish population (25% in 2012) (98). Hearing impairments, both own and among relatives, were fairly common; only about one third self-reported "good hearing" (even less among those who completed the hearing test), and 11% reported severely reduced hearing.

		Questionnaire n/%	InternetAudio test n/%
Overall	1771 / 100	202 / 100	
Sex			
	men	1610/ 91	177/ 88
	women	161/9	25/ 12
Age (years)			
	11-35	245/ 14	22/ 11
	36-47	366/ 21	51/25
	48-56	366/ 21	44/ 22
	57-65	385/ 22	46/23
	66-91	409/ 23	39/ 19
Place of residence			
	city	203/ 11	16/ 8
	suburb	189/ 11	20/ 10
	medium sized town	268/ 15	32/ 16
	municipality	383/ 22	35/ 17
	rural area	728/ 41	99/49
Highest education level			
	elementary school	225/ 13	35/ 17
	high school	648/ 37	70/ 35

Table 5.	Characteristics of study 3 and 4 participants, who answered the questionn-
	ire (n=1771), and the subset that completed the InternetAudio test (n=202).

Continues on next page

	university		97/ 48	
Self-assessed auditory status				
	good	628/ 36	58/29	
	slightly reduced	940 /53	121/ 60	
	severely reduced	195/ 11	23/ 11	
	don't know	2 /1	0	
	missing	6	0	
Non-hunting related noise*				
	yes	1345 / 76	162/ 80	
	no	426/ 24	40/20	
A family history of impaired he				
	yes	477/ 27	46/ 23	
	no		136/ 67	
	don't know		20/ 10	
	missing	11	0	
Ear disease**				
	yes	328/ 19	29/ 14	
	no	1443/ 81	173/ 86	
History of CVD***				
	yes	500/ 28	52/ 26	
	no	1271/72	150/ 74	
Tobacco use				
	yes	418/ 24	47/ 23	
	no	1353/ 76	155/ 77	
Other disease****				
	yes	669/ 38	71/35	
	no	1102/ 62	131/ 65	
Anti-inflammatory/anticoagula	ant drug use			
	yes	446/ 25	47/ 23	
	no	1325/75	155/77	

\* History of noise at work past or present, noise during army service, tinnitus after army service or tinnitus after leisure activities\*\*. History of Menière's, sudden deafness, vestibular schwannoma, ear surgery, chronic otitis media or ear disease as a child. \*\*\*History of myocardial infarction and/or hypertension and/or use of anticoagulants. \*\*\*\*History of meningitis, migraine, head-trauma, epilepsy, joint disease or cancer. Hunting-related exposures among the 1771 participants who answered the questionnaire and the subset of 202 participants who completed the hearing test are shown in Table 6. The proportions of hunters who had never fired any unprotected shots were around 40% for both hunting rifle calibers and lighter hunting weapons. For shotguns, 58% in both groups had never fired any such shots. Between 36% and 45% in both groups had fired more than six unprotected shots with all types of weapons in the preceding five years. About one fifth of the participants never used hearing protection (Table 6), but among the 1443 who did, electronic level dependent earmuffs (electronic earmuffs) were the most popular (81%).

#### 5.3.2 Non-responders

Of 3746 hunters who answered the three questions posed to non-responders, 42% indicated slightly reduced hearing and 7% severely reduced hearing; 42% had never fired any unprotected shots in the preceding year and 56 percent had fired more than 6 unprotected shots last year. This suggests that the study participants, on average, perceived their hearing ability as slightly worse than the invitees in general, but that their shooting pattern was not dramatically different.

# 5.3.3 Association between exposure to unprotected noise from hunting rifle caliber weapons and HFHI

Of the 202 participants who completed the InternetAudio test, 97 (48%) were found to have HFHI (Table 7). HFHI was significantly linked to exposure to unprotected shooting noise from hunting rifle caliber weapons in the preceding five years. The HFHI prevalence among participants with 1-6 reported such shots was 50% higher than among those with zero. However, among 89 hunters who reported more than 6 such shots, the prevalence of HFHI was essentially the same as in the reference category with no unprotected shots. Thus, there was no consistent dose-response relationship between the accumulated audio trauma over time and HFHI prevalence. While age was strongly associated with HFHI prevalence (50% increase in HFHI prevalence with each 10-year age increment), age was not linked to the exposure to unprotected noise from hunting rifle caliber weapons (data not shown). Hence, age did not confound the crude association between unprotected hunting rifle caliber noise exposure and HFHI prevalence. Moreover, further multivariable adjustments, as described in a footnote of Table 7, did not materially change the observed crude prevalence ratios, despite suggested crude associations between HFHI and several of the covariates (a reported previous history ear disease, CVD, non-hunting-related noise exposure, highest attained education, and tobacco use – data not shown). Of note, for all investigated calibers, the reported average total yearly number of shots (of which the overwhelming majority were fired with ear protection in use) was unrelated to the HFHI prevalence (data not shown), and this aspect of the shooting habits did not confound the observed association between exposure to unprotected shooting noise from hunting rifle calibers and prevalence of HFHI.

**Table 6.** Hunting-related characteristics of study 3 and 4 participants; who answered the questionnaire (n=1771), and the subset that completed the InternetAudio test (n=202).

		Questionnaire n/%	InternetAudio test n/%	
Overall		1771 / 100	202/ 100	
Number of shots	without protection past 5	years, per caliber		
	hunting rifle calibers			
	0	733/ 41	96/48	
	1-6	253/ 14	22/ 11	
	>6	785/45	84/ 42	
	lighter hunting weapons			
	0	655/ 37	69/ 34	
	1-6	361/20	44/ 22 89/ 44	
	>6	755/ 43		
	shotguns 0			
			117/ 58	
	1-6	116/ 7	11/ 5	
	>6	632/ 36	74/37	
Number of shots	in total on average per ye	ear, per caliber		
	hunting rifle calibers			
	0-50	50/ 3	4 / 2	
	51-100	445/ 25	47/ 23	
	101-200	422/ 24	48/ 24	
	>200	854/ 48	103/ 51	
	lighter rifle calibers			
	0	543/ 31	60/ 30	
	1-90	495/ 28	49/24	
	91-400	467/ 27	55/ 27	
	>400	266/ 15	38/ 19	

Continues on next page

	shotguns		
	0-100	1600/ 90	185/ 92
	101-300	118/ 7	12/ 6
	301-500	24/ 1	2/ 1
	>500	29/ 2	3/ 1
Number of huntir			
	0	18/ 1	2/ 1
	1-5	94/ 5	10/ 5
	6-10	273/ 15	37/ 18
	11-20	457/ 26	45/ 22
	>20	929/ 53	108/ 53
Ear protection us	e during hunting		
	always	686/ 39	70/ 35
	often	372/ 21	39/ 19
	sometimes	227/ 13	26/ 13
	rarely	158/ 9	25/ 12
	never	328/19	42/21
Type of ear prote			
	earplugs	87/ n. a	12/ n. a
	earmuffs	78/ n. a	6/ n. a
	electronic earmuffs	1171/ n. a	134/ n. a
	electronic earplugs	107/ n. a	8/ n. a

**Table 7.** Associations in study 3, expressed as Prevalence ratios, between exposures of main interest (unprotected shots with, respectively, hunting rifle calibers, lighter rifle calibers, and shotguns) and the probability of HFHI (a hearing impairment  $\geq$ 25 dB on 4 and/ or 6 kHz). The analysis is restricted to participants who completed the InternetAudio test (n=202).

Prevalence of HFHI in		Prevalence ratio with 95% confidence interval (within parentheses)						
		category n/N (%)	Crude	p- value	Age and sex adjusted	p- value	Fully adjusted*	p- value
0	verall	97/202 (48)						
N	umber o	f unprotected s	hots in the prec	eding 5	years per calib	er		
	h <b>untin</b> g	g rifle calibers						
	0	30/69 (43)	1(reference)		1(reference)		1(reference)	
	1-6	28/44 (64)	1.5 (1.0-2.1)	0.03	1.5 (1.1-2.1)	0.02	1.5 (1.0-2.2)	0.05
	>6	39/89 (44)	1.0 (0.7-1.4)	0.97	1.1 (0.8-1.4)	0.73	0.9(0,6-1,3)	0.67
	lighter	rifle calibers						
	0	59/117 (50)	1(reference)		1 (reference)		1 (reference)	
	1-6	7/11 (64)	1.3 (0.8-2.0)	0.34	1.5 (1.0-2.3)	0.07	1.2 (0.7-2.1)	0.43
	>6	31/74 (42)	0.8 (0.6-1.1)	0.26	0.9 (0.7-1.2)	0.47	0.9 (0.7-1.2)	0.51
	shotgu	ins						
	0	41/96 (43)	1 (reference)		1 (reference)		1 (reference)	
	1-6	10/22 (45)	1.1 (0.6-1.8)	0.81	1.3 (0.8-2.0)	0.28	1.1 ((0.7-1.9)	0.65
	>6	46/84 (55)	1.3 (0.9-1.7)	0.11	1.1 (0.9-1.5)	0.37	1.3 (0.9-1.9)	0.11
A	ge(conti	nuous)						
	per 10	yrs	1.5 (1.4-1.7)	<0.01	1.5 (1.4-1.7)**	<0.01	1.6(1.4-1.8)**	<0.01

\*Poisson model included age, sex, number of shots with no ear protection with, respectively, hunting rifle calibers, lighter hunting calibers and shotguns, non-huntingrelated noise exposure, education level, tobacco use, CVD (history of myocardial infarction and/or hypertension and/or use of anticoagulants), ear disease and family history of hearing impairment.

\*\* Not age adjusted

# 5.3.4 Associations between exposure to unprotected noise from rifles with other calibers and HFHI

Crude associations between HFHI prevalence and unprotected shooting noise from rifles with other calibers were, at most, only suggested (Table 7). Adjustments for age resulted in moderate changes of the HFHI prevalence ratio estimates, but in the multivariately adjusted full model, which included adjustment for exposure to hunting rifle caliber noise, the associations were statistically non-significant.

# 5.4 STUDY 4

Table 8 compares the distributions of shooting-related, other noise-related, medical, and socio-demographic exposures among hunters with and without HFHI. The Table is stratified according to whether or not the hunters had been exposed to the unprotected sound blast from at least one shot with an HRC weapon in the preceding 5 years. Within each stratum, age-adjusted PRs express the crude association between each exposure and HFHI. While the only truly conspicuous difference between hunters with and without HFHI was markedly differing age distributions, seen in both strata, few other statistically significant differences emerged.

Among hunters exposed to unprotected noise from HRC weapons, a much larger proportion of those with HFHI than of those without had only fired 1-6 such shots. The former were also more inclined to use ear protection during hunting than the latter. Among those who had apparently endured at least one unprotected sound blast from an HRC weapon without HFHI, we observed a somewhat unexpected accumulation of hunters with high school (9-12 years) as highest attained education, and a corresponding deficit of people with a university education.

Of the hunters who had not been exposed to the unprotected noise from HRC weapons in the past 5 years, those with HFHI were significantly more likely to report many (>20) hunting days per year and to wear ear protection less often during hunting than did those without HFHI. The unexposed hunters with HFHI did also report the existence of a relative with hearing impairment significantly more often than the unexposed hunters without HFHI. In neither of the groups did we observe any direct association between smoking and prevalence of HFHI.

**Table 8.** Distributions of exposures in study 4 – both related to shooting noise and to other factors suspected of being related to hearing loss – among hunters with and without high-frequency hearing impairment (HFHI), along with prevalence ratios (PR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) as measures of age-adjusted associations between the exposures and HFHI. The analysis is stratified according to the main exposure, namely having fired at least one shot in the preceding 5 years with a hunting rifle caliber weapon without ear protection. N=202.

		Not exposed to the unprotected sound-blast				Exposed to at least one unprotected sound-blast				
			from a sh	ot with a huni	ing rifle caliber w	reapon	from a h	unting rifle c	aliber weapon in 133)	the
			нені	No HEHI	hetauiusted	n-	нені	No HEHI	Age-adjusted	n- value
			n/ %†	n/ %†	PR (95%CI)	value	n/ %†	n/ %†	PR (95%CI)	p- value
Overall		202	30	39			67	66		
Number	r of unp	rotected shots wi	ith hunting r	ifle caliber in	the preceding 5 y	ears				
		0	30/100	39/100	n.a.		0	0	n.a.	
		1-6	0	0			28/42	16/24	1.4 (1.1-1.9)	0.02
		>6	0	0			39/58	50/76	1 (reference)	
Total nu	umber o	f shots, hunting a	ind training,	on average p	er year with hunt	ing rifle ca	alibers rega	rdless of ear	protection	
		0-50	12/40	16/39	0.7 (0.5-1.2)	0.23	10/15	8/12	1.1 (0.7-1.5)	0.78
		51-100	7/23	12/31	0.7 (0.3-1.3)	0.21	17/25	11/17	1.1 (0.8-1.6)	0.51
		> 100	11/37	11/28	1 (reference)		40/60	47/71	1 (reference)	
Number	r of hun	ting days per yea	r							
		0-20	18/60	29/74	0.5 (0.3-0.8)	<0.01	28/42	19/29	1.1 (0.8-1.5)	0.62
		>20	12/40	10/26	1 (reference)		39/58	47/71	1 (reference)	
Ear prot	tection u	use during huntin	g							
alw	ays/ofte	en	24/80	37/95	1 (reference)		27/40	21/32	1 (reference)	
som	netimes,	/rarely/never	6/20	2/5	1.6 (1.1-2.5)	0.02	40/60	45/68	0.7 (0.5-0.9)	0.02
Tobacco	o use*									
		yes	5/17	13/33	1.0 (0.4-2.2)	0.97	16/24	27/41	1.0 (0.6-1.5)	1.0
		no	25/83	26/67	1 (reference)		51/76	39/59	1 (reference)	
Sex										
		men	25/83	30/77	1 (reference)		63/95	59/89	1 (reference)	
		women	5/17	9/23	0.8 (0.4-1.7)	0.62	4/75	7/11	1.1 (0.5-2.5)	0.82
Age cate	egories	(not age-adjusted	1)							
		11-35	1/3	7/18	0.2 (0.0-1.1)	0.06	2/3	12/18	0.2 (0.1-0.7)	0.02
		36-55	4/13	23/59	0.2 (0.1-0.5)	<0.01	23/34	40/61	0.5 (0.3-0.7)	<0.01
		56-75	22/73	8/21	1 (reference)		38/57	14/21	1 (reference)	
		76-91	3/10	1/3	1.0 (0.6-1.9)	0.94	4/6	0	1.4 (1.2-1.6)	< 0.01
					. ,					
Non-hu	nting re	lated noise**								
	ves		22/73	34/87	1.0 (0.6-1.7)	0.88	49/73	57/86	1.0 (0.7-1.4)	0.92
	no		8/27	5/13	1 (reference)		18/27	9/14	1 (reference)	
Ear dise	ase***								. ,	
	ves		5/17	9/23	1.2 (0.6-2.5)	0.53	4/6	11/17	0.8 (0.3-1.7)	0.48
	no		25/83	30/77	1 (reference)		63/94	55/83	1 (reference)	
CVD^			- /		(				(	
	ves		15/50	8/21	0.9 (0.5-1.6)	0.72	19/28	8/12	1.0 (0.7-1.3)	0.86
	no		15/50	31/79	1 (reference)		48/72	58/88	1 (reference)	
Other d	isease^	^	-,		(				( ,	
	ves		8/27	6/15	1.2 (0.8-1.9)	0.42	20/30	26/39	0.8 (0.5-1.1)	0.21
	, no		22/73	33/85	1 (reference)		47/70	40/61	1 (reference)	
Family h	nistory o	of impaired hearing	ng		(				(	
, .	ves		12/40	6/15	1.8 (1.1-2.9)	0.02	13/19	15/23	0.9 (0.6-1.4)	0.65
	no		16/53	29/75	1 (reference)		48/72	43/65	1 (reference)	
	don't	know	2/7	4/10	(		6/9	8/12	(,	
Place of	resider	ice					-	-, -		
	city		4/13	6/15	1.3 (0.6-2.7)	0.47	2/3	4/6	0.8 (0.3-2.3)	0.63
	subur	b.	6/20	2/5	1.2 (0.6-2.2)	0.67	5/7	7/11	0.9 (0.4-1.7)	0.69
	medi	um sized town	4/13	10/26	0.7 (0.3-1.5)	0.39	11/16	7/11	1.0 (0.7-1.4)	0.80
	muni	cipality	6/20	3/8	1.4 (0.8-2.9)	0.28	14/21	12/18	0.9 (0.6-1.3)	0.59
	rural	area	10/34	18/46	1 (reference)		35/52	36/55	1 (reference)	
Highest	educati	on level	.,	., -	(		,		,	
	prima	ry school	5/17	7/18	0.7 (0.3-1.3)	0.25	17/25	6/9	0.9 (0.6-1.2)	0.44
	high	school	10/33	9/23	1.5 (0.9-2.5)	0.10	13/21	37/56	0.6 (0.4-1.0)	0.03
	unive	rsity	15/50	23/59	1 (reference)		36/54	23/35	1 (reference)	
			10,00	_0,00	= (		50,51	20,00	= (	

†Column % \*Use of cigarettes or snuff or both currently or in the preceding 5 yrs. \*\*History of noise at work past or present, noise during army service, tinnitus after army service or tinnitus after leisure activities. \*\*\* History of Menière's, sudden deafness, vestibular schwannoma, ear surgery, chronic otitis media or ear disease as a child. ^History of myocardial infarction and/or hypertension and/or use of anticoagulants. ^^ History of meningitis, migraine, head trauma, epilepsy, joint disease or cancer.

Table 9 particularizes the distributions of relevant exposure variables in categories of tobacco use. Eighty-four hunters had stopped using tobacco (60 cigarettes, 24 snus) more than 5 years ago and were thus classified as non-users. Additionally, 18 went from cigarettes to snus, 1 went from snus to cigarettes. Of the 19 current cigarette smokers, 5 also used snus daily. The prevalence of snus use was more than twice as high as that of cigarette smoking, but the age distributions were similar in the two groups. Compared to non-users, tobacco users tended to be younger (mean age 46.2 versus 55.5 years, p< 0.001), fire more shots with HRC weapons (both unprotected [p=0.07]) and overall [p=0.02]), and to report more hunting days (p<0.001), compared to non-users. There were no important differences between the groups in regard to reported frequency of hearing protection utilization during hunting, nor was there any difference in type of protection; 86% in both groups used electronic earmuffs (data not shown).

# **Table 9.** Distributions of shooting-related exposure variables as well as sex and age in categories of tobacco use

			No tobacco use n/%†	Tobacco use		
				Cigarettes n/%†	Snuff n/%†	Any tobacco use (cigarettes and/or snuff) n /%†
Ove	rall	202	141/100	19/100	47/100	61*/100
Expo	osure	to shooting nois	e from hunting rifle	e caliber wea	pons	
	Num	ber of <b>unprotecte</b>	d HRC shots in the	preceding 5 y	/ears	
		0	51/36	9/47	10/21	18/29
		1-6	35/25	1/5	9/19	9/15
		>6	55/39	9/47	28/60	34/56
	<b>Total</b> prece heari	number of HRC eding 5 years, rega ng protection	shots (hunting and ti ardless of hearing pr	raining), on av otection prec	verage per ye eding 5 years	ar in the , regardless of
		0-50	39/28	4/21	3/6	7/12
		51-100	34/24	3/16	10/21	13/21
		>100	68/48	12/63	34/72	41/67
Num	ber o	f hunting days pe	er year			
		0-20	78/55	6/32	10/21	16/26
		>20	63/45	13/68	37/79	45/74
Ear	protec	tion use during l	hunting			
		always/ often	77/55	12/63	22/47	32/52
		sometimes/ rarely/ never	64/45	7/37	25/53	29/48
Sex						
		Men	123/87	14/74	45/96	54/89
		Women	18/13	5/26	2/4	7/11
Age	categ	ories				
		11-35	14/10	2/11	7/15	8/13
		36-55	52/37	12/63	29/62	38/62
		56-75	67/47	5/26	11/23	15/25
		76-91	8/6	0	0	0

†Column % \*5 hunters used both cigarettes and snuff

Table 10 addresses effect modification, by tobacco use, of the PR relationship between self-reported unprotected exposure to the sound blast from an HRC weapon in the preceding 5 years and the probability of having HFHI. Without any stratification for tobacco use, the age- and sex-adjusted PR was 1.5 (1.0-2.1; p=0.02), in the 1-6 unprotected shots category, relative to the unexposed reference category (study 3). Stratification according to any tobacco use (upper third of the table) disclosed a lower PR estimate (1.3) among non-users of tobacco, but a considerably higher estimate (3.2) among tobacco users, however based on only 9 hunters in the exposed category. Despite the small sample size, the interaction term attained statistical significance (p=0.01). Our attempt to estimate effect modification by cigarette use and snus use separately (lower two thirds of the Table 10) was hampered by small numbers. Snus use was associated with a higher PR point estimate (2.3) among users than among non-users (1.3), but the snus \* shooting interaction term was non-significant (p=0.09). The PR estimate for the 1-6 unprotected shots category in the cigarette smoking stratum was based on only one exposed hunter, prohibiting any meaningful statistical inference. A supplementary analysis of the possible effect modification by snus, excluding the 19 smokers (current and/or stopped smoking in the preceding 5 years), somewhat reinforced the difference between the non-user and user strata; the PR estimate for the 1-6 unprotected shots category in the non-user stratum was 1.3 (95% CI 0.9-1.9) and in the user stratum it was 2.7 (95% CI 1.1-6.7) (p for the interaction term=0.05) (data not shown).

# **Table 10.** Relative risks (prevalence ratios) of having HFHI (a hearing impairment ≥25 dB on 4 and/ or 6 kHz) by hunting noise exposure status (unprotected sound blast from hunting rifle caliber weapons in the preceding 5 years), stratified according to self-reported tobacco use.

		Hunters Hunters with without HFHI in HFHI in	Prevalence ratio with 95 interval (within parenth	p-value for interaction term				
			category n / %	category n/ %	Age and sex adjusted	p-value		
Ove	rall	202	97	105				
Any	tobaco	co use						
	No	141	76/54	65/46				
		Number of unprotected shots with hunting rifle caliber in the preceding 5 years						
		0	25/49	26/51	1(reference)			
		1-6	21/60	14/40	1.3 (0.9-1.8)	0.18		
		>6	30/56	25/45	1.1 (0.8-1.5)	0.57		
							0.01	
	Yes	61	21/ 34	40/66				
		Number of unprotected shots with hunting rifle caliber in the preceding 5 years						
		0	5/28	13/72	1(reference)			
		1-6	7/78	2/22	3.2 (1.4-6.7)	<0.01		
		>6	9/26	25/74	1.0 (0.4-2.3)	0.95		
Cigarettes								
	No	183	92/50	91/50				
		Number	of unprotected	shots with hun	ting rifle caliber in the prece	ding 5 years		
		0	28/47	32/53	1(reference)			
		1-6	27/63	16/37	1.4 (1.0-2.0)	0.03		
		>6	37/46	43/54	1.1 (0.8-1.4)	0.69		
							0.04	
	Yes	19	5/26	14/74				
		Number	of unprotected	shots with hun	ting rifle caliber in the prece	ding 5 years		
		0	2/22	7/78	1(reference)			
		1-6	1/100	0	4.2*			
		>6	2/22	7/78	0.9 (0.2-4.8)	0.91		
Snu	s							
	No	155	77/49	78/50				
		Number	of unprotected	shots with hun	ting rifle caliber in the prece	ding 5 years		
		0	26/44	33/56	1(reference)			
		1-6	21/60	14/40	1.3 (0.9-1.9)	0.11		
		>6	30/50	31/51	1.1 (0.8-1.5)	0.63		
							0.09	
	Yes	47	20/43	27/57				
		Number	of unprotected	shots with hun	ting rifle caliber in the prece	ding 5 years		
		0	4/40	6/60	1(reference)			
		1-6	7/78	2/22	2.3 (1.0-5.0)	0.04		
		>6	9/32	19/68	0.9 (0.4-2.0)	0.78		

\*Too few a cases to estimate CI or p-value.

# 6 DISCUSSION

# 6.1 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

## 6.1.1 Causal interference

An observed association between an exposure and an outcome is not equivalent to causality for the outcome. First the association can be prone to different types of errors, random or systematic (bias). Errors interfere with the probability that the observed association is due to a true association in the studied population and not to chance or bias. Second, even if chance and bias have been ruled out and the association truly exists in the population, the attribution of causality may be incorrect due to confounding or reverse causation.

## 6.1.1.1 Random errors and precision

Random error are variability in the data which are caused by unknown factors in the measuring equipment, the individual, or the environment. They affect the precision of the study. Precision can be elevated by increasing the study sample size, and be reduced if the study sample is small -as when there is a low response rate in a survey. The response rate is a problem in study1, 3 and 4. Precision will also decline if the study is unbalanced, with very few observations in some subgroups, e.g. only few of the participants exposed. The precision is reflected by width of the confidence intervals of the measures of exposure. The 95% CI represents the range within which the true value lies with 95% probability. Wide CI: s indicate low precision, and the opposite with narrow CI:s.

Random errors can be reduced by using better instruments with less variation, and/or by collecting more data.

#### 6.1.1.2 Systematic errors and validity

Systematic errors affect the internal and external study validity. The internal validity is high if the observed association between the exposure and the outcome faithfully represents the true association in the target population and thus is unaffected by systematic errors.

The external validity concerns the generalizability of the results from the study; if it is reasonable to apply the results to other populations.

Systematic errors comprise the two main types (a)selection bias and (b) information bias but also include erroneous attribution of causality through (c) confounding and (d) reverse causality(58). Some systematic errors can be prevented through a rigorous study design, while others, notably confounding can be eliminated or reduced in the statistical analysis if they are expected and the appropriate covariate data have been accurately collected. Although the cross-sectional design in study 1, 3 and 4 is open to various confounding, the questionnaire used in this thesis includes 143-163 questions and subqueries concerning a wide array of possible confounding factors that are an important part of the statistical analysis to reduce and prevent systematic errors.

# 6.1.1.2.1 Selection bias

Selection bias is a systematic error and occurs if the inclinations to participate in the study/ refuse participation/ drop out, is determined jointly by the studied exposure and the studied outcome (99). Similarly, stratification on any variable that is under the influence of both the exposure (or a cause of the exposure) and the outcome (or a cause of the outcome) will also result in selection bias. Further, a distorted magnitude of the exposure-outcome association may occur if the inclination to participate is determined by the outcome alone (or a cause of it), but if an association is indeed observed, it is very likely to exist also in the target population, but not necessarily with the same strength. If these links with the reasons for non-participation do not exist, non-participation – even if it is substantial – will not entail any selection bias.

In e-epidemiology, with electronic communication via the Internet, and where the only contact information is the e-mail address, a new aspect of selection is introduced - Who were reached by the invitations and who had the required equipment and the know how to participate? With an internet access as high as 93 % in Sweden in 2015 (41), the prerequisites for successful contact are better than in most other countries in the world.

However, when launching the e-mail invitations in studies 3 and 4 the first question - "who were reached by the invitations?" showed to become a major set-back. As much as one third of the e-mail invitations bounced back because of low accuracy in the e-mail address- databases of the Swedish Hunters Association. This in turn activated various spam-filters which also stopped invitations with the correct addresses. Furthermore, in study 1, where regular postal invitations were used, the main reason for non-participation was lack of time or interest.

Full participation in this type of study admittedly demand both motivation and time. To participate several different steps had to be passed- completing an extensive questionnaire, installing the correct JAVA version on the PC, acquire headphones, find a normal hearing individual who could perform the calibration-test, and then finally execute the hearing-test. The low response rate was not a surprise, and in study 3 and 4, the successive attrition between entry into the study (n=1937) and the successful completion of the hearing test (n=202) clearly demonstrates just how demanding the study procedure was.

In general the Internet-users are alleged to be younger, wealthier, and better educated. This phenomenon is called the "digital divide"(44) and is perhaps a transient phase before the technology has become fully disseminated in the population, such as in Sweden today. In study 1, our data indicated that "full-responders" (both the questionnaire and the internet hearing test) were not only slightly older but more well-equipped in terms of computer technology compared to only questionnaire-responders. This result does in part contradict the digital divide at least in terms of age. In study 3 and 4 our responders exhibited a higher average education level than the Swedish population (98), which again support the "digital divide" theory, but it is also possible that people who engage in sports hunting – a rather expensive and exclusive hobby – may be better off than the average Swede. It is important to point out that our target population was hunters, not the general Swedish population.

In study 3 and 4 data showed no important differences between responders who only answered the questionnaire and those who also successfully carried out the InternetAudio test However responders in general indicated slightly more problems with their hearing ability, but only a marginally higher incidence of unprotected shooting compared to the non-responders who answered our simple e-mail questionnaire with 3 questions. This seems to indicate that the outcome (or a cause of the outcome) may have influenced the decisions to participate, while any important influence from the exposure seems less likely. Therefore, the non-participation in study 3 and 4 is unlikely to have caused full-fledged selection bias, whereas some distortion of our indices of association between exposure and outcome might have occurred due to the link between the outcome and non-participation. Since the latter link was rather weak, the distortion was probably moderate, but it must be emphasized that the proportion of all non-responders who provided this information was small.

In study 4, the prevalence of cigarette smoking and snus use among participants was well in line with Swedish statistics (100)

Regardless of whether or not non-participation has introduced selection bias, the low participation rate in all the studies and partial non-response pose a threat to the external validity of our results, i.e., the generalizability to other populations. The more distinct the remaining participant group, the more caution is needed when the results are to be translated to other populations and contexts. And it seems wise to admit that the possibility of selection bias is an important caveat in study 1, 3 and 4.

# 6.1.1.2.2 Information bias

Information/observation errors (misclassification) arise in the collection of information from the subjects once they have entered the study, either because of incorrect reporting, misuse of equipment or equipment error (101). If the error/misclassification is differential, information bias might arise.

Differential misclassification of the exposure is when this misclassification is affected by the outcome, and differential misclassification of the outcome is when this misclassification is affected by the exposure. In our case the crosssectional design, where the outcome has already occurred when we ask about the exposure of interest, differential misclassification – both of the exposure and the outcome - is a realistic concern. For instance, a hunter with hearing impairment probably tends to remember the past number of unprotected shots (exposure) better than a normal hearing hunter. Or when concerning misclassified outcome- if a hunter with many hunting days and many fired shots per year asks a fellow hunter with equally bad hearing to be his/her reference person in the InternetAudio test. The calibration criteria in the InternetAudio test are designed to reduce this risk, as well as the information to the participant of using a normal hearing reference person in the calibration process. Even so the results from the hearing tests must be interpreted with caution. Differential misclassification can either exaggerate or underestimate the association between exposure and outcome.

Non-differential misclassification is not related to the outcome or exposure (of e.g. number of shots per caliber, use of hearing protection, and number of hunting days). It occurs randomly and does not affect the association between exposure and outcome, but might dilute the estimated effect (101).

- 6.1.1.2.3 Erroneous attribution of causality
- 6.1.1.2.3.1 Reverse causation

Reverse causation is a bias that concerns the interpretation of an observed association between two variables. If other biases such as confounding (see below) are excluded, one must assume that one variable (referred to as the exposure) has affected the other (referred to as the outcome), or in other words, that A has affected B. But a similar association would be seen if B had affected A. If the latter scenario would be true, and the association is misjudged to represent an effect of A on B, this represents reverse causation. This is probably seen in study 3, where the use of hearing protection among susceptible hunters during hunting compared to the resistant hunters, lead to a false impression that sporadic use of ear protection is more protective than frequent use. The susceptible hunters are those who experience gunshot sounds as oto-traumatic and this affects their use of hearing protection, but the damage to their hearing is already done, i.e., the perceived outcome had, in fact, affected the perceived exposure. This paradox – reverse causation – was not observed in the group of hunters who were not exposed to unprotected shooting with HRC weapons in the preceding 5 years. The reverse causation in studies 3 and 4 interferes with how to interpret the protective effect of use of ear protection.

# 6.1.1.2.3.2 Confounding

A simple explanation of confounding is that an observed association (or absence of an association) between the exposure and the outcome is totally explained by (or the causal effect of the exposure is mixed together with) the causal effect of a third variable. This third variable is a common cause of both the exposure and the outcome. As opposed to bias due to selection or measurement error, the observed association between the studied exposure and outcome truly exists in the target population, but the causal structure is misinterpreted. It should be pointed out that even if confounding is demonstrated it does not exclude a causal effect by the exposure on the outcome, but the observed association is either amplified, attenuated, or even reversed by the confounding factor.

There are different ways to deal with possible confounding. In our crosssectional internet study it is not possible to randomize, which is the safest way to eliminate all possible confounding. Restriction of the study to a narrow stratum of a key confounding factor is another way to reduce confounding, but it would have been unwise to restrict participation as there was already a low response rate. Matching participants on a key confounding factor, yet another way to reduce confounding, would be very demanding both in terms of the current size of the study population and economically. Confounding can be minimized in the statistical analysis by stratification or multivariable regression modelling. A major disadvantage with stratification is its inability to control simultaneously for multiple confounding variables because you have to subdivide the study population in a growing number of new substrata with each introduced variable for every introduced variable. This would not have been possible with preserved precision in our studies due to the small study population. The rich availability of possible covariates in study 3, however, allowed us to control for most conceivable confounding factors by multivariable regression modelling. In the fully adjusted model in study 3, in table 7, the PR has a slightly wider CI and the p-value is slightly higher, as an expression of the lower precision when introducing more variables. In study 4, on tobacco use, we were hampered by the small study sample, and had to be stricter on inclusion of covariates in the statistic model from the beginning, in order to not lose the precision. This did not, however, pose a major problem as the results from study 3 had already revealed that none of the covariates but age was a confounder.

In general, age is the strongest and most predictable determinant of hearing impairment, and if age is also a determinant of the studied exposure in studies concerning causes of hearing impairment, the possible causal effect of the studied exposure on the hearing ability will be mixed with the effect of age. Thus, age must always be considered as a potential confounding factor. This is supported in studies 3 and 4. The association between age and HFHI prevalence was clearly evident in our data, and the effect of age has been shown to easily override the effect of long-time noise exposure with dB-levels of 85-90(15). As the relationship was essentially linear we used age as a continuous variable in the model to remove the confounding effect, and it proved to be efficient. To use ISO 7029:2000, Acoustics -- Statistical distribution of hearing thresholds as a function of age, which was an initial suggestion was ruled out. Hunters is a non-otologically screened population as in ISO 7029:2000, and they are exposed to hunting noise. Comparing hearing thresholds from clinical audiometry with screening hearing thresholds from the InternetAudiotest was deemed not to be fair.

Nevertheless, residual confounding due to insufficiently fine categorization, or confounding from unmeasured causal factors (e.g., genetic factors) cannot be totally excluded and must be taken account when interpreting the results.

# 6.1.2 Effect Measure Modification /effect modifiation

Effect measure modification is when the level of association between exposure and outcome varies by levels of a third factor. When there is effect modification by a third factor, analysis of the pooled data can be misleading, but in stratified analyses, however, you must be careful to ensure that the sample size is adequate to provide a meaningful analysis (102). In our case this can be seen in study 3 versus study 4 where we study tobacco users and the probability of having a HFHI when being exposed to unprotected sound blast from HRC weapons. Categorization as tobacco-users in study 3 was restricted to current use (23%) (those who gave an affirmative answer to the question do you smoke or use snus?), but in study 4 we also included previous users who had smoked or used snus in the past 5 years but had quitted at the time of the data collection (30%). The reason for including the previous 5 years in study 4, was because the exposure of interest, (unprotected shots with HRC weapons) was examined during a period of the previous 5 years. Even so the small number of participants effectively prevented any deeper statistical analysis on subgroups of tobacco users and also to include more covariates in the model.

#### 6.1.3 InternetAudio test

Study 1 revealed a large part of measurement errors in the Internet hearing test and the need for further improvement of the test-procedure. Many of the performed hearings tests and even accepted calibrations results showed unre-asonable values and had to be discarded.

The weakest link in our Internet-based hearing test is the reference person which is the only workable method for calibration of the testing system. Other Internet-based hearing tests have used a reference tone or a specific program for calibrating the zero level (103) (52). This is problematic as noise levels of computers and the surrounding environments, as well as the quality of head-phones, vary for each individual and setting.

The hearing of the reference person is crucial, as the hearing result of the test person is the actual difference between the HL of the reference person and the HL of the test person. Our possibilities to test the hearing of the reference person are very limited. Before study 2 we designed mandatory approval criteria to detect reference persons with hearing loss estimated to be more than 15 dB, but there is a gray zone that will affect the hearing results of the test person. Some participants might also be tempted to use themselves as reference person, not understanding the importance of the calibration procedure.

This possible inadequacy of the RP-HL might be a major problem in crosssectional studies of the prevalence of hearing impairment in the population, but it will probably have less impact on longitudinal epidemiologic studies of intrapersonal change, that is, rate of deterioration of hearing ability over time. In study 2, the main validation study, was for efficacy reasons not done in the general population, where the prevalence of hearing impediments is low. Further, we did not evaluate this method among elderly persons. The participation rate was low in all of the subpopulations that were approached with our invitations and this might have led to selection of particularly motivated, computer-practiced individuals. This may have led to some overestimation of the accuracy. The small sample size, and particularly the small number of subjects with hearing impediments, limited the precision of our accuracy and reliability estimates. The smaller intra-study validation in study 3 does however give the same results as in study 2.

Both study 2 and the smaller intra-study validation in study 3 showed that the Internet-based hearing test tended to underestimate the hearing threshold levels. It was also difficult, in the way the internet hearing test was constructed, to rule out failure of having passed all calibration tests and then leaving the test running while leaving the room and so giving a false result, indicating a severe hearing loss (65dB HL) for all frequencies. Or despite clear instructions some participants may have used themselves as reference-persons and by doing so produced an erroneous perfect hearing result with 0dB HL on all frequencies. Such errors might have contributed to the risk of misclassification – most probably non-differential – and might thus have diluted the true associations investigated in studies 3 and 4.

The Internet-based hearing test is concurrently improved during the course of this thesis based on the results from study 1 and 2. The final test-tool is named the Internet Audio test and is used in study 3 and 4.

# 6.2 FINDINGS AND IMPLICATIONS

# 6.2.1 Study 1

Our study had a response rate of 29% to the questionnaire and 16% to the hearing test, which is low for an epidemiological study. There were no differences between questionnaire respondents and full respondents in terms of sociodemographic characteristics and self-estimated hearing. When looking at non-respondents, the primary reason for non-participation was lack of interest. The survey engaged highly motivated individuals and this affected both the precision and the external validity of the results, but on the other hand it was feasible to use the tool-kit on motivated individuals.

The comparison, between self-assessed hearing by a question and measured hearing by the Internet-based hearing test showed low agreement (Cohens kappa coefficient= 0.18 (95% CI 0.005-0.359)). The Internet-based hearing test indicated a hearing loss in 20% of the tested individuals, compared to 52% in the self-estimated question. These results could reflect the difficulty in self-assessing one's own hearing problems, or are a result of difficulties in the calibration procedure of the internet-based hearing test. These results could also reflect the low correlation between the decided cut-off levels of one or more frequencies compared to a single question. In any case based on

the results from only the questionnaire it seems as if the hunters had a higher prevalence of self-assessed hearing problems compared to the Swedish population (2).

Study 1 resulted in the following improvements of the hearing test, which were implemented in study 2: (1) the calibration process is made mandatory to be able to proceed testing, (2) an automated quality check is performed in the java-program before the calibration is accepted, (3) the dB level of the next tone presented, when a tone was registered as not heard, was changed to a 10 dB higher level and, when heard at a 5 dB lower level. The first two changes would probably reduce the willingness to proceed and perform the hearing test, but on the other hand the hearing tests performed would hope-fully be of an acceptable quality.

## 6.2.2 Study 2

The reformed Internet based hearing test from study 1 was validated. The validation showed an acceptable agreement with the pure-tone audiometry. The two methods showed little difference for all hearing frequencies (0.5, 1, 2, 4, 6, and 8 kHz) and it did not vary with greater hearing impairment (dB). The sensitivity for hearing impairment according to a classification system for noise damage by Heijbel-Lidén, modified after Klockhoff (94) was reasonable and it had high specificity, and high repeatability. The moderate sensitivity makes the test less suited for ruling out hearing impairment, but the high specificity makes it useful for ruling in hearing impairment.

Study 2 resulted in the following improvements of the hearing test, which were implemented in study 3: The reference person has to repeat the calibration twice with acceptable similarity before approval. The accepted number of late/early space-bar pressures was elevated from five, to 10, which might help those who complain of tinnitus, and/or have a major hearing impairment.

# 6.2.3 Study 3

In study 3 we observed a significant 50% higher prevalence of HFHI among hunters who reported having fired 1-6 shots from HRC weapons without any hearing protection compared to those who reported not having fired any such shots without protection in the past 5 years. The observed result persisted after multivariable control for a large number of conceivable confounding factors, including age. In the fairly large group of hunters who reported more than 6 unprotected shots with HRC weapons (twice as many hunters as those who reported 1-6 shots) the HFHI prevalence was, however, close to that observed among those reporting no such shots. There was no linear relationship

between the accumulated number of such shots and the outcome of the InternetAudio test. Neither exposure to unprotected shooting noise from weapons that generate less sound energy, nor the reported total annual number of shots, the vast majority of them fired with hearing protection in place, did seem to be related to HFHI, regardless of caliber.

The observation that one or a few unprotected high-energy impulse sound blasts from HRC weapons seemed to have an effect on the hearing test, in contrast to a history of no unprotected shots, is expected and is supported in the previous literature (13, 19, 25, 32-35, 104, 105). It is, however, difficult to explain why the prevalence of HFHI was lower among hunters who reported >6 unprotected shots than among those with less exposure in other ways than by individual differences in the susceptibility to ototraumatic events such as intense exposure to impulse noise. We believe that many susceptible hunters who experienced acute subjective hearing loss likely stopped such unprotected shooting, when the adverse effects of impulse noise like temporary hearing loss and tinnitus become apparent, while those with resistant ears continued shooting unprotected.

In general, the prevalence of HFHI was rather high also in the reference categories, the members of which were not exposed to unprotected shots. This could, in part, be explained by the age structure among participating hunters but also by our study being restricted to hunters. The association between age and HFHI prevalence was clearly evident in our data, but the removal of confounding ought to have been rather efficient in our analyses with age as a continuous variable. This notwithstanding, the crude prevalence ratios did not change materially after adjustment for age because age was basically unrelated to the shooting exposures.

The absence of a relationship between HFHI prevalence and the use of other types of firearms in this study should not be taken as evidence of their audio-logical safety and could be partly explained by the fact that all participants had a positive shooting history, and those serving as the reference categories, who were not exposed to unprotected shots in analyses of one type of weapon, were invariably exposed to other types of shooting noise. This lack of contrast could have impeded our ability to verify small effects of shooting noise. Also, the InternetAudio test, and possibly even the pure-tone audio-gram, may be too blunt an instrument to expose the full inner ear damage caused by the noise from these types of weapons. This notion is supported by Pawlaczyk-Luszczynska et al, who despite normal clinical audiometry were able to demonstrate effects on the cochlea caused by unprotected shooting noise from small caliber firearms with OAE (105).

## 6.2.4 Study 4

The results from study 3 lead us to the conclusions that the wide variation in individual susceptibility also concerns exposure to high-energy impulse noise from HRC weapons and that susceptible individuals may sustain longlasting or possibly irreversible damage to the inner ear from just 1 or a few shots. This variation in susceptibility to impulse noise might be genetically determined, as seems to be the case when the noise is occupational (20, 21, 106), but there might also be external factors that modify the harmful impact as tobacco smoking that aggravates hearing impairment following continuous noise (61-67). Can this effect also be seen for impulse noise?

#### 6.2.4.1 Effect measure modification by tobacco use

In study 4 we did fact observe evidence for a modifying role of tobacco in the inner ear's ability to withstand extreme impulse noise, like unprotected sound blasts from HRC weapons. Among tobacco users, a history of 1-6 unprotected shots was associated with a significant 220% increase in the age-adjusted HFHI prevalence ratio, relative to 0 such shots, while among tobacco non-users the corresponding excess was no more than a non-significant 30%. As in study 3, we in study 4 again saw evidence of individual susceptibility as the effect modification by tobacco use was only seen among those hunters who were in the 1-6 shot stratum, and the hunters in the >6 shot stratum seemed unaffected.

Small numbers prohibited us from statistically verifying any effect modification by cigarette smoking alone, but we noted that the effect modification of the PR was nearly significant also among exclusive snus users. Since only a minority among the tobacco users smoked, the effect modification was likely driven to a large extent by snus use. Tobacco use itself was not associated with an increased prevalence of HFHI, neither among hunters exposed to unprotected noise from HRC weapons, nor among those who were unexposed to such noise.

The scientific evidence of oxidative stress in the cochlea as an effect of noise (9), can easily be transferred to the notion that current tobacco-use might increase this effect among susceptible individuals. A risk increase for NIHL among smokers is well published (61-67, 107), but available data concerns continuous noise. In study 4 it was found that the modifying effect of tobacco also includes impulse noise. Research has demonstrated that it is possible to "protect" your ears from "blast-induced cochlear damage" with an anti-oxidant cocktail. This will enhance the TTS recovery and reduce the PTS (108) (109). Possibly tobacco-use could have an opposite effect compared to

the antioxidant cocktail, and increase the oxidative stress, and then make the cochlea even more vulnerable among susceptible individuals when exposed to hazardous noise. Our present results where the effect modification seen likely is driven by snus (as the majority of the tobacco users where sniffers), seem to contradict that combustions products as CO, are responsible for the tobacco-associated vulnerability to high-energy impulse noise. Maybe nico-tine alone or in collaboration with TSNAs should be more interesting for coming research within the field.

#### 6.2.4.2 Hearing protection and number of hunting days

A much larger proportion of exposed hunters *with* HFHI than exposed hunters without HFHI fell in the 1-6 shots category. The majority of hunters exposed to the unprotected noise from HRC weapons reported more than 6 shots in the preceding 5 years – some substantially more, but *less than half* of them showed evidence of HFHI upon InternetAudio testing.

Apart from the adverse effect on hearing of the unprotected shooting experience among susceptible hunters we also suspected a greater inclination among these hunters (with HFHI) to use hearing protection during hunting compared to non-susceptible hunters (with no HFHI), leading to a false impression that sporadic use of ear protection is more protective than frequent use. This possible reverse causation was not observed in the group of hunters who were not exposed to unprotected shooting with HRC weapons in the preceding 5 years. Those hunters who were unexposed to unprotected shooting with HRC weapons with sporadic use of hearing protection during hunting had a significant 60% higher prevalence of HFHI than unexposed hunters who used protection always or often. Likewise, the prevalence of HFHI among unexposed hunters reporting >20 hunting days per year was twice as high as among those reporting 0-20 hunting days. As shooting without protection occurs only during hunting and essentially never during training, this suggests that unprotected shooting with non-HRC weapons may also entail some risk for HFHL.

# 7 CONCLUSION AND FUTURE STUDIES

- The low response rates, mainly because of technical problems, but also because of lack of interest and time threaten both the validity and precision of the results in this thesis. The actual participation is, although somewhat sociodemographic biased, not deemed to be associated with neither the studied exposure and to a very small extent to the studied outcome. Therefore the risk of selection bias affecting results is small.
- The InternetAudio test can assess hearing with the help of a PC with an Internet connection. Among motivated individuals it is a valid alternative to questionnaires about self-perceived hearing loss in epidemiological studies or at out-patient clinics with pre-calibrated equipment.
- HFHI can be the result of unprotected shooting with HRC weapons for susceptible individuals.
- The individual susceptibility to develop HFHI seems highly variable. The factors that influence this susceptibility needs to be further investigated in order to give better the advice to the public.
- The susceptibility to develop HFHI, when exposed to unprotected shooting with HRC seems to be much greater among tobacco users than among non-users. The exact mechanisms remain to be clarified in future studies, but since the effect modification was apparent also among users of smokeless tobacco, combustion products may not be critical.
- In this thesis the importance of ear protection could not be quantified among hunters using HRC weapons because our data suggested that the HFHI outcome had led to changes in the use of such protection. Among hunters using weapons with less sound energy, however, no or sporadic use of hearing protection was linked to a 60% higher prevalence of HFHI, relative to habitual use.
- Even though there is a wide variation in individual susceptibility to highenergy impulse noise all hunters and others exposed to gunshot noise, should be encouraged to always use hearing protection, and stop using tobacco products, as the individual susceptibility is unknown.

# 8 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Arbetet till denna avhandling har varit en lång vindlande väg med många uppförsbackar. Målgång hade aldrig varit möjlig utan stöd från familj, kollegor och vänner. Jag vill särskilt uttrycka min tacksamhet till:

Min första huvudhandledare, **Professor Dan Bagger-Sjöbäck**, som erbjöd mig plats på denna långa men lärorika resa, utan din entreprenörsanda och entusiasm hade jag aldrig påbörjat detta arbete.

Min andra huvudhandledare, **Professor Olle Nyrén**. Ditt oändliga tålamod, din nitiska och outtröttliga granskning av mina texter, siffror och tabeller och dina djupa epidemiologiska kunskaper har varit helt avgörande för att detta arbete till slut mynnade ut i en disputation.

Min bihandledare, **Professor Ulf Rosenhall**, audiologins mästare. Dina lågmälda men ytterst viktiga synpunkter, din tröst i svåra tider-som i detta projekt varit många, våra samtal om allt inom och utom projektet - från patientfall, audiologi, Göteborgs lokaltrafik och landstings politik mm har hjälpt mig att fortsätta denna resa och balansera genom audiologins farvatten.

Alexander Ploner och Peter Ström, statistikerna på MEB och medförfattare i arbete 3 och 4, som varsamt och tålmodigt guidat mig genom statistik i dess renaste form, samt visat vägen i SAS programmeringens oförlåtliga djungel.

Ann Johansson, audionom hörselkliniken KS, som på ett förträffligt sätt utfört nästan alla kliniska audiogram i arbete 2 och 3.

Li Yin, statistiker MEB, som kontrollprogrammerade all min SAS programmering i arbete 2.

Christin Bexelius, Mikael Eriksson och Sven Sandin, medförfattare i arbete 1 och 2. Vilken pionjäranda vi hade!

Agneta Wittlock, institutionssekreterare på CLINTEC, för din värdefulla administrativa hjälp i allt som har med KI och avhandling att göra.

**Richard Kuylenstierna**, **Mats Holmström**, **Bo Tideholm**, mina tidigare chefer på ÖNH-kliniken KS, Solna. För att ni gav mig tjänstledigt för att forska genom åren och bidrog till en forskningsstimulerande miljö.

**Claes Hemlin** och **Efrem Araia**, mina tidigare chefer på Aleris ÖNH mottagningen Sabbatsberg. För att generöst ha gett mig forskningsledigt för att kunna fullfölja och avsluta denna avhandling, samt bidragit med hejarop på vägen.

Alla mina tidigare **ÖNH kollegor på ÖNH kliniken på Karolinska**, vi slet ofta under Kafka-liknade förhållanden, men med humor, kollegialitet och känsla för vårdens etik blev det uthärdligt och ibland helt magiskt. Jag saknar er.

Läkarkollegorna på gastromedicin, ortopedi, anestesi, gynekologi, kirurgi och ÖNH på Aleris specialistvård Sabbatsberg, i synnerhet Lotta Hessén-Söderman - I tillfällen av lokalt vansinne var ni öarna av förnuft och normalitet.

Mamma och Pappa- För att ni satt mig till världen och gav mig de bästa förutsättningarna i livet.

**Magnus**, käre make, "...I hope you understand I'm hanging on to you; through all colors of love; I will never fade out or stray too far from you..." Jag älskar dig.

Christoffer, Rebecca och Vendela - Ni är min mening, stjärnorna på min himmel och solen i mitt hjärta.

Detta avhandlingsarbete har genomförts med stöd i synnerhet från Tysta Skolan, men även från Stiftelsen ACTA Otolaryngologica, CLINTEC och Vetenskapsrådet.

# 9 REFERENCES

- 1. WHO. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). 2001.
- Swedish Association of Hard of Hearing People H. Myternas Marknad: Svensk hörselvård – från behov till business. 2014.
- 3. Undersökningarna av levnadsförhållanden. Funktionsnedsättning efter indikator, ålder, kön, tabellinnehåll och årsintervall [database on the Internet]. SCB. 2014. Available from: http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/sv/ssd/START\_LE\_LE0101\_LE0101H/LE0101H13/table/tableViewLayout1/?rxid=fe071a3b-0292-4b08-a2df-4d0597d6b3b2.
- 4. Swedish work and environment authority A. Arbetsmiljöverkets föreskrifter (AFS 2005:16). In: Arbetsmiljöverket, editor.2005. p. 34.
- 5. The National Board of Health and Welfare S. Socialstyrelsens allmänna råd om buller inomhus, (SOSFS 2005:6). Chefsjurist Nils Blom; 2005.
- 6. The National Board of Health and Welfare S. Socialstyrelsens allmänna råd om höga ljudnivåer, (SOSFS 2005:7) Chefsjurist Nils Blom; 2005.
- 7. Yamane H, Nakai Y, Takayama M, Konishi K, Iguchi H, Nakagawa T, Shibata S, Kato A, Sunami K, Kawakatsu C. The emergence of free radicals after acoustic trauma and strial blood flow. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl1995;519:87-92.
- 8. Pujol R, Rebillard G, Puel JL, Lenoir M, Eybalin M, Recasens M. Glutamate neurotoxicity in the cochlea: a possible consequence of ischaemic or anoxic conditions occurring in ageing. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl1990;476:32-6.
- 9. Quirk WS, Shivapuja BG, Schwimmer CL, Seidman MD. Lipid peroxidation inhibitor attenuates noise-induced temporary threshold shifts. Hear Res1994 Apr;74(1-2): 217-20.
- Henderson D, Spongr V, Subramaniam M, Campo P. Anatomical effects of impact noise. Hear Res1994 Jun 1;76(1-2):101-17.
- 11. Yamashita D, Jiang HY, Schacht J, Miller JM. Delayed production of free radicals following noise exposure. Brain Res2004 Sep 3;1019(1-2):201-9.
- 12. Axelsson A, Hamernik RP. Acute acoustic trauma. Acta Otolaryngol1987 Sep-Oct;104(3-4):225-33.
- Murray NE, Reid G. Temporary deafness due to gunfire. J Laryngol Otol1946 Feb;61:92-130.
- 14. Taylor W, Pearson J, Mair A, Burns W. Study of noise and hearing in jute weaving J Acoust Soc Am1965 Jul;38:113-20.
- 15. Albera R, Lacilla M, Piumetto E, Canale A. Noise-induced hearing loss evolution: influence of age and exposure to noise. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol2010 May;267(5):665-71.
- 16. Henderson D, Subramaniam M, Boettcher FA. Individual susceptibility to noise-induced hearing loss: an old topic revisited. Ear Hear1993 Jun;14(3):152-68.
- 17. Reid G. Further observations on temporary deafness following exposure to gunfire. J Laryngol Otol1946 Dec;61(12):609-33.
- Luz GA, Hodge DC. Recovery from impulse-noise induced TTS in monkeys and men: a descriptive model. J Acoust Soc Am1971 Jun;49(6):1770-7.
- 19. Dancer A, Grateau P, Cabanis A, Vaillant T, Lafont D. Delayed temporary threshold shift induced by impulse noises (weapon noises) in men. Audiology1991;30(6):345-56.
- Kowalski TJ, Pawelczyk M, Rajkowska E, Dudarewicz A, Sliwinska-Kowalska M. Genetic variants of CDH23 associated with noise-induced hearing loss. Otol Neurotol2014 Feb;35(2):358-65.

- 21. Sliwinska-Kowalska M, Pawelczyk M. Contribution of genetic factors to noise-induced hearing loss: a human studies review. Mutat Res2013 Jan-Mar;752(1):61-5.
- 22. Myint A, White CH, Ohmen JD, Li X, Wang J, Lavinsky J, Salehi P, Crow AL, Ohyama T, Friedman RA. Large-scale phenotyping of noise-induced hearing loss in 100 strains of mice. Hear Res2015 Dec 17.
- 23. Grifa A, Wagner CA, D'Ambrosio L, Melchionda S, Bernardi F, Lopez-Bigas N, Rabionet R, Arbones M, Monica MD, Estivill X, Zelante L, Lang F, Gasparini P. Mutations in GJB6 cause nonsyndromic autosomal dominant deafness at DFNA3 locus. Nat Genet1999 Sep;23(1):16-8.
- 24. Flamme GA, Wong A, Liebe K, Lynd J. Estimates of auditory risk from outdoor impulse noise. II: Civilian firearms. Noise Health2009 Oct-Dec;11(45):231-42.
- 25. Ylikoski J. Acute acoustic trauma in Finnish conscripts. Etiological factors and characteristics of hearing impairment. Scand Audiol1989;18(3):161-5.
- 26. Ylikoski J, Pekkarinen J, Starck J. The efficiency of earmuffs against impulse noise from firearms. Scand Audiol1987;16(2):85-8.
- 27. Buck K. Performance of different types of hearing protectors undergoing high-level impulse noise. Int J Occup Saf Ergon2009;15(2):227-40.
- 28. Paakkonen R, Lehtomaki K. Protection efficiency of hearing protectors against military noise from handheld weapons and vehicles. Noise Health2005 Jan-Mar;7(26):11-20.
- 29. Nondahl DM, Cruickshanks KJ, Dalton DS, Klein BE, Klein R, Tweed TS, Wiley TL. The use of hearing protection devices by older adults during recreational noise exposure. Noise Health2006 Oct-Dec;8(33):147-53.
- Svensson EB, Morata TC, Nylen P, Krieg EF, Johnson AC. Beliefs and attitudes among Swedish workers regarding the risk of hearing loss. Int J Audiol2004 Nov-Dec;43(10):585-93.
- Håkansson B, Gingsjö, A. Hörselskyddsanvändning, skottljudsbelastning, hörselproblem och attityder bland Sveriges jägare, Technical report, 1:95. Chalmers tekniska Högskola.1995.
- 32. Nondahl DM, Cruickshanks KJ, Wiley TL, Klein R, Klein BE, Tweed TS. Recreational firearm use and hearing loss. Arch Fam Med2000 Apr;9(4):352-7.
- Taylor GD, Williams E. Acoustic trauma in the sports hunter. Laryngoscope1966 May;76(5):863-79.
- Stewart M, Konkle DF, Simpson TH. The effect of recreational gunfire noise on hearing in workers exposed to occupational noise. Ear Nose Throat J2001 Jan;80(1):32-4, 6, 8-40.
- 35. Tambs K, Hoffman HJ, Borchgrevink HM, Holmen J, Engdahl B. Hearing loss induced by occupational and impulse noise: results on threshold shifts by frequencies, age and gender from the Nord-Trondelag Hearing Loss Study. Int J Audiol2006 May;45(5):309-17.
- Swedish Environmental Protection Agency N. Hunting permits. Naturvårdsverket; 2016 [cited 2016 20160103]; Available from: http://www.naturvardsverket.se/Varnatur/Jakt/Jaktkort-och-jagarexamen/#.
- 37. WHO. Grades of hearing impairment. 2006 [cited 2016]; Available from: http://www. who.int/pbd/deafness/hearing\_impairment\_grades/en/.
- Swedish agency for health technology assessment and assessment of social services S. Hörapparat för vuxna - nytta och kostnader. 2003. p. 35-41.
- Standardisation IIOf. ISO 8253-1, Acoustics Audiometric test methods Part 1: Basic pure tone air and bone conduction threshold audiometry.: Geneva: ISO; 1989.
- 40. Bexelius C. e-epidemiology- adapting epidemiological methods for the 21st century [PhD]. Stockholm: Karolinska university; 2009.
- 41. Findahl O DP. Svenskarna och internet. Internetstiftelsen i Sverige; 2015 [cited 2015]; Available from: www.soi2015.se/the-swedes-and-the-internet-2015-summary.
- 42. Horevoorts NJ, Vissers PA, Mols F, Thong MS, van de Poll-Franse LV. Response rates for patient-reported outcomes using web-based versus paper questionnaires: comparison of two invitational methods in older colorectal cancer patients. J Med Internet Res2015;17(5):e111.
- 43. Zuidgeest M, Hendriks M, Koopman L, Spreeuwenberg P, Rademakers J. A comparison of a postal survey and mixed-mode survey using a questionnaire on patients' experiences with breast care. J Med Internet Res2011;13(3):e68.
- 44. Vidyasagar D. Digital divide and digital dividend in the age of information technology. J Perinatol2006 May;26(5):313-5.
- 45. Mindell JS, Giampaoli S, Goesswald A, Kamtsiuris P, Mann C, Mannisto S, Morgan K, Shelton NJ, Verschuren WM, Tolonen H. Sample selection, recruitment and participation rates in health examination surveys in Europe--experience from seven national surveys. BMC Med Res Methodol2015;15:78.
- 46. Tolonen H, Ahonen S, Jentoft S, Kuulasmaa K, Heldal J. Differences in participation rates and lessons learned about recruitment of participants--the European Health Examination Survey Pilot Project. Scand J Public Health2015 Mar;43(2):212-9.
- Hohwu L, Lyshol H, Gissler M, Jonsson SH, Petzold M, Obel C. Web-based versus traditional paper questionnaires: a mixed-mode survey with a Nordic perspective. J Med Internet Res2013;15(8):e173.
- Swanepoel de W, Clark JL, Koekemoer D, Hall JW, 3rd, Krumm M, Ferrari DV, Mc-Pherson B, Olusanya BO, Mars M, Russo I, Barajas JJ. Telehealth in audiology: the need and potential to reach underserved communities. Int J Audiol2010 Mar;49(3): 195-202.
- 49. Gladden C, Beck L, Chandler D. Tele-audiology: Expanding Access to Hearing Care and Enhancing Patient Connectivity. J Am Acad Audiol2015 Oct;26(9):792-9.
- 50. Givens GD, Blanarovich A, Murphy T, Simmons S, Blach D, Elangovan S. Internetbased tele-audiometry system for the assessment of hearing: a pilot study. Telemed J E Health2003 Winter;9(4):375-8.
- 51. Krumm M. Audiology telemedicine. J Telemed Telecare2007;13(5):224-9.
- 52. Choi JM, Lee HB, Park CS, Oh SH, Park KS. PC-based tele-audiometry. Telemed J E Health2007 Oct;13(5):501-8.
- 53. Molander P, Nordqvist P, Oberg M, Lunner T, Lyxell B, Andersson G. Internet-based hearing screening using speech-in-noise: validation and comparisons of selfreported hearing problems, quality of life and phonological representation. BMJ Open2013;3(9):e003223.
- 54. Smits C, Merkus P, Houtgast T. How we do it: The Dutch functional hearing-screening tests by telephone and internet. Clin Otolaryngol2006 Oct;31(5):436-40.
- Jansen S, Luts H, Wagener KC, Frachet B, Wouters J. The French digit triplet test: a hearing screening tool for speech intelligibility in noise. Int J Audiol2010 May;49(5): 378-87.
- 56. Smits C, Kramer SE, Houtgast T. Speech reception thresholds in noise and self-reported hearing disability in a general adult population. Ear Hear2006 Oct;27(5):538-49.
- 57. Sackett DL. The rational clinical examination. A primer on the precision and accuracy of the clinical examination. Jama1992 May 20;267(19):2638-44.

- 58. Rothman KJ. Epidemiology, an introduction: Oxford university press; 2002.
- 59. Parikh R, Mathai A, Parikh S, Chandra Sekhar G, Thomas R. Understanding and using sensitivity, specificity and predictive values. Indian J Ophthalmol2008 Jan-Feb;56(1):45-50.
- 60. Sweden PHAo. Tobacco habits. 2015; 20151116:[Available from: http://www.folk-halsomyndigheten.se/amnesomraden/statistik-och-undersokningar/enkater-och-undersokningar/nationella-folkhalsoenkaten/levnadsvanor/tobaksvanor/.
- 61. Rosenhall U, Sixt E, Sundh V, Svanborg A. Correlations between presbyacusis and extrinsic noxious factors. Audiology1993 Jul-Aug;32(4):234-43.
- 62. Cruickshanks KJ, Klein R, Klein BE, Wiley TL, Nondahl DM, Tweed TS. Cigarette smoking and hearing loss: the epidemiology of hearing loss study. Jama1998 Jun 3;279(21):1715-9.
- 63. Agrawal Y, Platz EA, Niparko JK. Risk factors for hearing loss in US adults: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999 to 2002. Otol Neurotol2009 Feb;30(2):139-45.
- 64. Fransen E, Topsakal V, Hendrickx JJ, Van Laer L, Huyghe JR, Van Eyken E, Lemkens N, Hannula S, Maki-Torkko E, Jensen M, Demeester K, Tropitzsch A, Bonaconsa A, Mazzoli M, Espeso A, Verbruggen K, Huyghe J, Huygen PL, Kunst S, Manninen M, Diaz-Lacava A, Steffens M, Wienker TF, Pyykko I, Cremers CW, Kremer H, Dhooge I, Stephens D, Orzan E, Pfister M, Bille M, Parving A, Sorri M, Van de Heyning P, Van Camp G. Occupational noise, smoking, and a high body mass index are risk factors for age-related hearing impairment and moderate alcohol consumption is protective: a European population-based multicenter study. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol2008 Sep;9(3):264-76; discussion 1-3.
- 65. Mohammadi S, Mazhari MM, Mehrparvar AH, Attarchi MS. Effect of simultaneous exposure to occupational noise and cigarette smoke on binaural hearing impairment. Noise Health2010 Jul-Sep;12(48):187-90.
- 66. Tao L, Davis R, Heyer N, Yang Q, Qiu W, Zhu L, Li N, Zhang H, Zeng L, Zhao Y. Effect of cigarette smoking on noise-induced hearing loss in workers exposed to occupational noise in China. Noise Health2013 Jan-Feb;15(62):67-72.
- 67. Mehrparvar AH, Mirmohammadi SJ, Hashemi SH, Davari MH, Mostaghaci M, Mollasadeghi A, Zare Z. Concurrent effect of noise exposure and smoking on extended high-frequency pure-tone thresholds. Int J Audiol2014 Dec 3:1-7.
- 68. Nomura K, Nakao M, Morimoto T. Effect of smoking on hearing loss: quality assessment and meta-analysis. Prev Med2005 Feb;40(2):138-44.
- 69. Lee PN. Summary of the epidemiological evidence relating snus to health. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol2011 Mar;59(2):197-214.
- Ahotupa M, Bussacchini-Griot V, Bereziat JC, Camus AM, Bartsch H. Rapid oxidative stress induced by N-nitrosamines. Biochem Biophys Res Commun1987 Aug 14;146(3):1047-54.
- 71. Sheweita SA, El-Bendery HA, Mostafa MH. Novel study on N-nitrosamines as risk factors of cardiovascular diseases. Biomed Res Int2014;2014:817019.
- 72. Arimilli S, Damratoski BE, Bombick B, Borgerding MF, Prasad GL. Evaluation of cytotoxicity of different tobacco product preparations. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol2012 Dec;64(3):350-60.
- 73. Hoffmann D, Djordjevic MV. Chemical composition and carcinogenicity of smokeless tobacco. Adv Dent Res1997 Sep;11(3):322-9.

- 74. Weitberg AB, Corvese D. The effect of epigallocatechin galleate and sarcophytol A on DNA strand breakage induced by tobacco-specific nitrosamines and stimulated human phagocytes. J Exp Clin Cancer Res1999 Sep;18(3):433-7.
- 75. Weitberg AB, Corvese D. Oxygen radicals potentiate the genetic toxicity of tobaccospecific nitrosamines. Clin Genet1993 Feb;43(2):88-91.
- 76. Shahbaz Hassan M, Ray J, Wilson F. Carbon monoxide poisoning and sensorineural hearing loss. J Laryngol Otol2003 Feb;117(2):134-7.
- 77. Csiszar A, Podlutsky A, Wolin MS, Losonczy G, Pacher P, Ungvari Z. Oxidative stress and accelerated vascular aging: implications for cigarette smoking. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)2009;14:3128-44.
- Csordas A, Wick G, Laufer G, Bernhard D. An Evaluation of the Clinical Evidence on the Role of Inflammation and Oxidative Stress in Smoking-Mediated Cardiovascular Disease. Biomark Insights2008;3:127-39.
- 79. Dengerink HA, Lindgren FL, Axelsson A. The interaction of smoking and noise on temporary threshold shifts. Acta Otolaryngol1992 Nov;112(6):932-8.
- 80. Abdel-Hafez AM, Elgayar SA, Husain OA, Thabet HS. Effect of nicotine on the structure of cochlea of guinea pigs. Anat Cell Biol2014 Sep;47(3):162-70.
- 81. Agewall S, Persson B, Lindstedt G, Fagerberg B. Smoking and use of smokeless tobacco in treated hypertensive men at high coronary risk: utility of urinary cotinine determination. Br J Biomed Sci2002;59(3):145-9.
- 82. Bolinder G, Noren A, Wahren J, De Faire U. Long-term use of smokeless tobacco and physical performance in middle-aged men. Eur J Clin Invest1997 May;27(5):427-33.
- Granberry MC, Smith ES, 3rd, Troillett RD, Eidt JF. Forearm endothelial response in smokeless tobacco users compared with cigarette smokers and nonusers of tobacco. Pharmacotherapy2003 Aug;23(8):974-8.
- 84. Eliasson M, Lundblad D, Hagg E. Cardiovascular risk factors in young snuff-users and cigarette smokers. J Intern Med1991 Jul;230(1):17-22.
- 85. Asplund K. Smokeless tobacco and cardiovascular disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis2003 Mar-Apr;45(5):383-94.
- Muhr P, Rosenhall U. Self-assessed auditory symptoms, noise exposure, and measured auditory function among healthy young Swedish men. Int J Audiol2010 Apr;49(4):317-25.
- 87. Newman CW, Jacobson GP, Spitzer JB. Development of the Tinnitus Handicap Inventory. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg1996 Feb;122(2):143-8.
- Rosenhall U, Pedersen K, Moller MB. Self-assessment of hearing problems in an elderly population. A longitudinal study. Scand Audiol1987;16(4):211-7.
- 89. Pedersen K, Rosenhall U. Correlations between self-assessed hearing handicap and standard audiometric tests in elderly persons. Scand Audiol1991;20(2):109-16.
- 90. Noble WGA, G. R. The Hearing Measurement Scale: A questionnaire for the assessment of auditory disability. Journal of Auditory Research1970;10(3):229-50.
- 91. SAME SAM. Handbook in hearing measuring LIC förlag 1990.
- 92. SAME SAM. Manual of practical audiometry. 1983 ed. Ed: S Arlinger SAMG, editor: Whurr Publishers Ltd, London and New Jersey; 1991.
- 93. Tyler RS, Wood EJ. A comparison of manual methods for measuring hearing levels. Audiology1980;19(4):316-29.
- Klockhoff I, Drettner B, Hagelin KW, Lindholm L. A method for computerized classification of pure tone screening audiometry results in noise-exposed groups. Acta Otolaryngol1973 Apr;75(4):339-40.

- 95. Thompson ML, Myers JE, Kriebel D. Prevalence odds ratio or prevalence ratio in the analysis of cross sectional data: what is to be done? Occup Environ Med1998 Apr;55(4):272-7.
- 96. Zou G. A modified poisson regression approach to prospective studies with binary data. Am J Epidemiol2004 Apr 1;159(7):702-6.
- 97. Barros AJ, Hirakata VN. Alternatives for logistic regression in cross-sectional studies: an empirical comparison of models that directly estimate the prevalence ratio. BMC Med Res Methodol2003 Oct 20;3:21.
- 98. Sweden S. Educational attainment of the population 2012. 2012 [cited 2014]; Highest educational level in Sweden]. Available from: http://www.scb.se/en\_/Finding-statistics/Statistics-by-subject-area/Education-and-research/Education-of-the-population/ Educational-attainment-of-the-population/Aktuell-Pong/9575/Behallare-for-Press/ Educational-attainment-of-the-population-2012/.
- 99. Hernan MA, Hernandez-Diaz S, Robins JM. A structural approach to selection bias. Epidemiology2004 Sep;15(5):615-25.
- Norberg M, Malmberg G, Ng N, Brostrom G. Who is using snus? Time trends, socioeconomic and geographic characteristics of snus users in the ageing Swedish population. BMC Public Health2011;11:929.
- 101. Hennekens CH, editor. Epidemiology in medicine. First ed. Boston/Toronto: Little, Brown and Company; 1987.
- LaMorte W. W. SLM. Confounding and Effect Measure Modification. [Web page] 2015 [cited 2015]; Available from: http://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/MPH-Modules/ BS/BS704-EP713\_Confounding-EM/BS704-EP713\_Confounding-EM\_print.html.
- 103. Digital-recordings. WWW hearing test. Halifax2008 [cited 2008]; Available from: http://www.digital-recordings.com/.
- Keim RJ. Sensorineural hearing loss associated with firearms. Arch Otolaryngol1969 Nov;90(5):581-4.
- Pawlaczyk-Luszczynska M, Dudarewicz A, Bak M, Fiszer M, Kotylo P, Sliwinska-Kowalska M. Temporary changes in hearing after exposure to shooting noise. Int J Occup Med Environ Health2004;17(2):285-93.
- Konings A, Van Laer L, Van Camp G. Genetic studies on noise-induced hearing loss: a review. Ear Hear2009 Apr;30(2):151-9.
- 107. Ohgami N, Kondo T, Kato M. Effects of light smoking on extra-high-frequency auditory thresholds in young adults. Toxicol Ind Health2011 Mar;27(2):143-7.
- 108. Ewert DL, Lu J, Li W, Du X, Floyd R, Kopke R. Antioxidant treatment reduces blastinduced cochlear damage and hearing loss. Hear Res2012 Mar;285(1-2):29-39.
- 109. Lu J, Li W, Du X, Ewert DL, West MB, Stewart C, Floyd RA, Kopke RD. Antioxidants reduce cellular and functional changes induced by intense noise in the inner ear and cochlear nucleus. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol2014 Jun;15(3):353-72.